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One. Procedure for the 2023 Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders 

I. Announcement of the commencement of the meeting (report the number of shares 

represented by shareholders present at the meeting) 

II. Chairman’s speech 

III. Report Items 

IV. Acknowledgement matters 

V. Election matters 

VI. Discussion matters 

VII. Extraordinary Motion 

VIII. Adjournment 
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Two. Agenda of the 2023 Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders 

Meeting Time: 11:00 AM on May 26 (Friday), 2023 

Location: Prince Hotel (No.600, Chung-Hsiao Road, Chiayi City, Taiwan, R.O.C) 

Convening method: in-person  

I. Report on total shares represented by shareholders present in person 

II. Chairman announces the commencement of the meeting and gives speech 

III. Report Items 

Agenda 1. 2022 Annual Business Report 

Agenda 2. Audit Committee's Review Report on the 2022 Financial Statements 

Agenda 3. Report on the 2022 Distribution of Employee Compensation and Director 

Remuneration. 

Agenda 4. Revision of the Company’s “Procedures for Board of Directors’ Meetings” 

Agenda 5. Report on the Commitments Made by The Company and Its Subsidiaries to 

Subsidiary Sunjuice Co., Ltd. for Overseas Listing and the Content of Board 

Resolutions 

IV. Acknowledgment matters 

Agenda 1. Approval of the 2022 Business Report and Financial Statements. 

Agenda 2. Approval of the 2022 Disposition of Net Earnings. 

      Vote for above-mentioned agenda for acknowledgment 

V. Election matters 

Agenda 1. Election of the 5th Board of Directors. 

Vote for agenda for election 

  VI. Discussion matters 

Agenda 1. Revision of the Company’s “Articles of Association” 

Agenda 2. Rescinding the Non-Competition Restriction of Newly Appointed Directors 

and their Representatives. 

Agenda 3. Revision of the Company’s “Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meetings”  

Vote for above-mentioned agenda discussion 

VII. Extraordinary Motion 

VIII. Adjournment 
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Three. Report Items 
Agenda 1: Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject: Please review the 2022 Annual Business Report. 

Description: The Company’s 2022 Annual Business Report, please refer to this manual 

(Attachment I). 

 

Agenda 2: Proposed by the board of directors 

Subject: Please review the Audit Committee's Review Report on the 2022 Financial Statements. 

Description: The Company’s Audit Committee Review Report, please refer to this manual 

(Attachment II). 

 

Agenda 3: Proposed by the board of directors 

Subject: Please review the Report on the 2022 Distribution of Employee Compensation and 

Director Remuneration. 

Description: According to Article 122 of the Articles of Association, the Company should 

distribute employee compensation at a rate of no less than 0.15% of the profits for 

the year and Director remuneration at a rate not exceeding 2% of the profits for the 

year. Whereas there is accumulated deficit, the Company should compensate the 

accumulated deficit. The total amount of Director remuneration distributed in 2022 

was NT$1,248 thousand, and the total amount of employee compensation 

distributed in cash was NT$605 thousand. 

 

Agenda 4: Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject: Revision of the Company’s “Procedure for the Board of Directors’ Meetings” Please 

proceed to discuss.  

Description: To comply with legal regulations, the "Procedure for the Board of Directors’ 

Meetings" of the Company has been revised. Please refer to the comparison table 

of the revised articles in this manual (Attachment III). 

 

Agenda 5: Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject: Please review the Report on Commitments and Board Resolutions regarding Overseas 

Listing of Subsidiary Sunjuice Co., Ltd. 

Description: I.  Sunjuice Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, has applied to the China 

Securities Regulatory Commission for the first public offering of RMB ordinary 

shares (A-shares) and listing on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. This has been 

approved by the 10th meeting of the 4th Board of Directors on November 26, 

2021, and the 2022 1st Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 

January 18, 2022. 

II.  To comply with the requirements of submitting the listing application documents, 

the Company and its subsidiaries need to provide relevant commitments. Please 



  

5 
 
 

refer to this manual (Attachment IV). 

III.  The above-mentioned commitment letter was approved by the Audit Committee 

and the Board of Directors of the Company on July 5, 2022. Overall, it has no 

significant impact on the financial, business, or shareholder rights and interests 

of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

Four.Acknowledgment matters 
Agenda 1: Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject: Approval of the 2022 Annual Business Report and Financial Statements. 

Description: I.  The Company has completed the preparation of the 2022 Annual Business Report 

and Consolidated Financial Statements (please refer to Attachment V of this 

manual). 

II.  This matter has been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and has 

been discussed and approved by the Board of Directors. It is hereby submitted to 

the shareholders' meeting for approval in accordance with the law. 

 

Agenda 2: Proposed by the board of directors 

Subject: Approval of the 2022 Disposition of Net Earnings. 

Description: I.  Processed in accordance with the Cayman Islands’ law and the Company’s 

Articles of Association. 

II.  The 2022 Disposition of Net Earnings is presented for reference (please refer to 

Attachment VI of this manual). 

III.  After the 2022 Disposition of Net Earnings was reviewed by the Board of 

Directors, it will be submitted to the 2023 Annual Shareholders' Meeting for 

approval. The chairman is authorized to set the ex-dividend date and handle 

related matters in full. 

IV.  For the cash dividends allotted at less than one dollar of the zeros for the total 

count, the decimal point values are ranked from large to small and distributed to 

zero according to the shareholders' allocation. 

V.  Afterwards, if the number of circulating shares is affected by other factors such 

as cash replenishment, buying back of treasury shares or cancellation, it is 

proposed for the shareholders' meeting to authorize the board of directors to 

adjust the interest rate and handle the relevant matters in its entirety. 

 

Vote for above-mentioned agenda for acknowledgment 
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Five. Election matters 
Agenda 1: Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject: Election of the 5th Board of Directors 

Description: I.  As the current term of the Directors expires on May 27, 2023, it is proposed to 

hold an early election of Directors (including Independent Directors) at the 2023 

Annual General Meeting and to establish an Audit Committee comprising all 

Independent Directors. 

II.  The current Board of Directors will be dismissed immediately after the election 

at the current shareholders' meeting. 

III.  The term of the newly elected Directors will be from May 26, 2023, to May 25, 

2026, a term of three years. 

IV.  The list of Director candidates for this election will be processed in accordance 

with Article 192-1 of the Company Act, and the list of eight Directors (including 

three Independent Directors) can be found in Attachment VII of this manual. 

 

Election Result:  
 

Six. Discussion matters 
 

Agenda 1: Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject: Revision of the Company’s “Articles of Association.” Please proceed to discuss. 

Description: I.  In order to cooperate with the Taiwan Stock Exchange to amend the "Checklist 

for the Protection of Shareholders' Rights and Interests of Foreign Issuer 

Registration Countries", it is proposed to amend the Company’s “Articles of 

Association" and submit it to the lawyer, Chiu Shih Fang, of the Kaider Law Firm 

for review. 

II.  The Comparison Table for the revised articles can be found in this manual 

(Attachment VIII). 

     

Agenda 2: Proposed by the board of directors 

Subject: Discussion of the resolution to lift the non-compete restrictions on the new Directors and 

their representatives. 

Description:  In accordance to operating needs, it is proposed to remove the non-competition 

obligation in Article 209 of company Act for all newly-elected directors and the 

representative of the juridical person newly-elected in this general shareholders’ 

meeting. The concurrent post is as below. Please proceed to discuss.  
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Name  Title Concurrent Post 
HUANG,KUO-

HUANG 
Director 

Director of Sunjuice I International 

Limited  

LIN,LI-LING  Director 
Director of Sunjuice I International 

Limited  
HUANG,HSUN-

YI 
Director 

Director of Sunjuice I International 

Limited  

WU,MING-

HSIEN 
Director 

Director of Sunjuice I International 

Limited 

 

Agenda 3: Proposed by the board of directors 

Subject: Revision of the Company’s “Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meetings” Please 

proceed to discuss.  

Description:  The "Rules of Shareholders' Meetings" of the Company will be updated in 

compliance with the law. Please refer to the comparison table for the revisions in 

this manual (Attachment IX). 

 

Vote for above-mentioned agenda discussion 

 

. 

Seven. Extraordinary Motion 
 

 

Eight. Adjournment 
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Attachment I   

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

2022 Annual Operating Report 

Dear shareholders, the Company would like to present a summary of its operational performance 
and future prospects for the fiscal year 2022 as follows: 

I. Operational Performance in 2022 

(I) Business plan implementation results: 
Unit: New Taiwan Dollars (thousand) 

Year 

Items 
2022 2021 

Increase 

(decrease) 

amount 

Changes 

percentage 

(%) 

Operation Income  4,101,393 4,581,970 (480,577) (10.49%) 

Operating cost 2,931,835 2,921,115 10,720 0.37% 

Gross profit 1,169,558 1,660,855 (491,297) (29.58%) 

Operating Expenses  616,066 669,562 (53,496) (7.99%) 

Operating Net Profit  553,492 991,293 (437,801) (44.16%) 

Non-operating 

 
76,582 26,296 50,286 191.23% 

Net Income before 

 
630,074 1,017,589 (387,515) (38.08%) 

Income tax expenses  165,382 312,298 (146,916) (47.04%) 

Net Profit of Current 

 
464,692 705,291 (240,599) (34.11%) 

(II) Budget implementation situation: not applicable to undisclosed financial forecast. 

(III) Financial income and profitability analysis: The Company focuses on high quality products 

investments and integration, steady financial operations with good income status. 
Unit: New Taiwan Dollars (thousand) 
 

Year 

Items  
2022 2021 

Increase 

(decrease) 

amount 

Changes 

percentage (%) 

Financial incom
e 

Operation Income  4,101,393 4,581,970 (480,577) (10.49%) 

Operating Gross 

Profit  
1,169,558 1,660,855 (491,297) (29.58%) 

Interest income 35,951 19,043 16,908 88.79% 

Interest expense 1,332 1,069 263 24.60% 

Net Profit of Current 

Year  
464,692 705,291 (240,599) (34.11%) 
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Profitability 

Return on assets (%) 9.81% 16.85% (7.04%) (41.78%) 

Return on 

shareholders’ equity 

(%) 
11.44% 21.08% (9.64%) (45.73%) 

Net profit rate (%) 11.33% 15.39% (4.06%) (26.38%) 

Basic earnings per 

share (NTD) 
11.92 20.94 (9.02) (43.08%) 

 

II. Development of the China Market 

1. Income levels 

According to data from the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the per capita disposable 
income of Chinese residents in 2022 was RMB 36,883, a nominal increase of 5.0% compared to 2021. 
After adjusting for price factors, the actual increase was 2.9%, which was in line with economic 
growth. The median per capita disposable income of the nation was RMB 31,370, a growth of 4.7%. 
Among them, the median per capita disposable income of urban residents was RMB 49,283, a growth 
of 3.9%, and the median per capita disposable income of rural residents was RMB 20,133, a growth 
of 6.3%. The annual per capita consumption expenditure of nationals was RMB 24,538, a nominal 
increase of 1.8% from the previous year, and a real decrease of 0.2% after adjusting for price factors. 

2. Consumer profiling 

New tea beverages have caught the attention of young women and become a lifestyle amongst 
younger generations. Among these beverage consumers, women account for over 60%, and young 
women born in the 1990s and 2000s make up the main consumer group. The 18-34 age group accounts 
for over 70%, with most of them being white-collar workers with incomes ranging from RMB 3,000 
to 10,000. According to IPSOS survey data, there were over 230 million people born in the 1990s in 
China, accounting for one in every six people in the population. This generation is entering a golden 
period of career development, and they are willing to spend money. They pursue personalized, diverse, 
and experiential forms of consumption, and are eager to upgrade their consumption, typically placing 
a high value on quality and service and are curious about new things. This shows the potential of the 
new tea market. As a result, China has seen an increase in the overall number of new tea beverage 
shops and customers in recent years, especially after the easing of the pandemic. This presents an 
opportunity for the new tea industry to grow further. 

3. Development opportunities for the food and beverage industry: 

The food and beverage sector in China suffered greatly as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak in 
2020, and all types of businesses faced severe challenges. As the widespread epidemic situation was 
effectively controlled by the end of 2022, people's daily lives and social interactions gradually 
returned to normal, and there was a significant improvement in consumption in the food and beverage 
industry. The food and beverage industry has also seen a significant rebound and gradually returned 
to pre-pandemic levels in the pandemic's normalized environment. Many food and beverage brands 
have adapted to the current circumstances and are planning for the future, as they actively adjust their 
business strategies to embrace new development opportunities. 

4. Competitive Landscape: 
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According to the "2022 New Tea Beverage Research Report" of the China Chain Operation 
Association, the market size of new tea beverages in China has grown from RMB 42.2 billion in 2017 
to RMB 100.3 billion in 2021, with the compound annual growth rate exceeding 20%. Despite the 
COVID-19 pandemic that swept across China in 2022, the market size of the new tea beverages 
industry still reached RMB 104 billion, essentially remaining similar to that of 2021. As the pandemic 
prevention and control policies are relaxed, it is expected that the consumer fervor of the Chinese will 
be ignited after the second quarter of 2023, and the market size for new tea beverages in 2023 is 
expected to increase to RMB 145 billion, with a three-year compound growth rate of nearly 20%. By 
the end of 2022, the total number of new tea beverage stores in operation was about 486,000, an 
increase of over 28% compared to the end of 2020 when there were 378,000 stores. According to the 
"2022 New Catering Industry Report" released by Meituan New Catering Research Institute, new tea 
beverages have developed into a growth engine for the food and beverage industry, with a consumer 
base of nearly 400 million people. Over 90% of consumers purchase new tea beverages every week, 
and over 60% of consumers pay between RMB 11-20. The compound annual growth rate of 
customers has exceeded 40% in the past two years. Consumer demand continues to rise, and 
competition in the new tea beverages industry continues to intensify. The market for new tea 
beverages is so large that other industries have also started to enter. Companies of all tiers, regardless 
of new or established brands, are all competing for control over the center business districts in the 
major cities. The pandemic and the winner-takes-it-all effect of leading brands have resulted in 
closure or consolidating of independent shops and small players. Brand competition is intensifying.  
In February 2022, HEYTEA was the first to launch a price-cutting campaign, which was soon 
followed by other major brands, in order to gain market share and attract consumers. At the same 
time, leading brands expanded their channels by acquiring or holding stakes in coffee shops, tea shops, 
small bars, and new retail channels, diversifying their businesses and enhancing their competitive 
strength. From the perspective of store location layout, top brands are expanding to second- and third-
tier cities, while mid-tier brands are expanding to fourth- and fifth-tier cities. Meanwhile, bottom 
brands, which focused on fourth- and fifth-tier cities, are beginning to seek growth opportunities in 
higher-tier markets. Mid-tier brands are being squeezed by both ends, and competition between 
brands is further intensifying. 

III. Summary of 2023 Operational Plan 

1. Business guidelines  

The Company is a full-service provider of raw materials for new tea beverages. It mainly engages 
in the research and development, production, and sales of beverage products, taste granule products, 
fruit jam products, and direct drinking products, all of which are important links in the new tea 
beverages supply chain. The Company has always been committed to producing natural, healthy, safe, 
and delicious products, and is dedicated to the development and upgrading of high-quality products. 
The Company continuously meets the personalized needs of new tea beverage companies and 
provides customized products and full-process services to customers. 

2. Sales target and the basis  

According to the World Bank's forecast published in January 2023, China's economic growth 
rate is predicted at 4.5%. With the relaxation of pandemic prevention and control policies in China, 
the Company has established growth targets that are in line with current market trends and company 
planning, aiming of maintaining the overall performance of the Company in a benign growth trend. 
In 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic hit numerous regions of China repeatedly, impacting the new tea 
beverages industry. The Company was inevitably impacted because of its extensive involvement in 
the sector. The Company has focused on enhancing its raw material supply advantages this year and 
has established a raw material factory in Guangxi. The factory commenced operations in June 2022 
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and has undergone six months of operation adjustments. The Guangxi factory is expected to boost 
the Company's raw material supply this year. At the same time, the Company has also been expanding 
its production lines in Guangdong to include Tetra production lines and frozen product production 
lines, as well as in Tianjin to include frozen jam production lines, to relieve production capacity 
pressure at the Kunshan headquarters and expand its product line to meet the new demands of 
customers for frozen products and high-quality products in the new tea beverages industry. In addition, 
by testing the waters of new retail channels, the Company has hence developed a set of 
complementary experiences and established a new retail business unit this year to provide growth 
engines for the Company's performance. The Company has developed a CRM customer management 
software to improve internal efficiency, collect market information in a timely manner, and 
understand business trends. A significant customer service team has been established at the third 
factory to better serve the Company's major clients. The team will concentrate its efforts on market 
trends, new product development, product applications, marketing promotions, and consumer 
analysis, providing comprehensive services to each major customer. At the end of 2022, the Company 
implemented a unified strategic layout at the headquarters, giving each factory more autonomy in its 
operations in order to better conduct its business, provide close-by and timely services to regional 
customers, and optimize its business layout. As a result, they are able to take more initiative and 
develop plans for quick responses in response to changes in the local market. 

3. Policy and market factors  

The international environment in 2023 is still very complex, and there are still significant 
uncertainties in many areas. Three significant pressures still exist on China's economic development: 
demand contraction, supply shock, and weakening expectations. Under such circumstances, the 
Chinese economy in 2023 will still focus on stability, particularly on "stable growth, stable 
employment, and stable prices." Expanding domestic demand remains a major theme in the context 
of this "stability" backdrop. After nearly three years of the COVID-19 pandemic, the food and 
beverage industry in China has suffered enormous setbacks, and numerous types of businesses have 
faced severe challenges. As the COVID-19 pandemic is brought under control, people's daily lives 
and social interactions are gradually returning to normal, and there has been a significant 
improvement in consumption in the food and beverage industry. 

With the encouragement of the "domestic circulation" policy in China, domestic consumption 
demand has been further stimulated, and the food and beverage industry, as an important component 
of economic activity and daily consumption, has also achieved good development due to the policy. 
With the orderly recovery of dine-in services and the dual-track of online and offline consumption, 
the food and beverage industry will continue to expand. 

Despite facing various challenges, China's supply chain advantages remain significant in 2022. 
Its extensive supply chain, robust logistics system, sizable market, and preferential policies that 
encourage innovation will stimulate economic recovery. As COVID-19 is classified as a "Class II 
infectious disease" entering 2023, the government's control measures have been relaxed, which means 
that the movement of people and goods between regions is no longer restricted. With the 
implementation of various measures, new impetus will be injected into the development of the 
Chinese economy. The new tea beverages industry will flourish as a pioneering force in the food and 
beverage industry. 

IV. Important Strategies for 2023 

1. Production strategy: 

The Company is furthering the concept of lean production management, implementing office 
automation (OA) systems, ERP (SAP) systems, cloud warehouse management (WMS) systems, 
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automated storage and retrieval systems (AS/RS), advanced scheduling (APS) systems, and customer 
relationship management (CRM) systems. The Company continues to improve and lay out automated 
and intelligent production lines to improve production efficiency and build an intelligent factory. The 
Company is able to realize production requirements of "multi-batch, small-batch, multi-variety, and 
multi-specification" in order to satisfy diverse customer needs. The connection between the 
company's WMS system and production system makes product traceability possible, as it provides 
end-to-end supply chain services for numerous well-known new tea beverage businesses. The 
Company currently has three production facilities, located in Zhaoqing, Guangdong, Kunshan, 
Jiangsu, and Tianjin, respectively. The recently established Baise facility in Guangxi is an upstream 
processing plant that specializes in producing frozen fruit puree and pulp products. The three 
production facilities of the Company provide customer services within their respective geographic 
service areas according to the designated scope of service. This strategy can shorten the transportation 
distance while improving the efficiency of customer raw material delivery, and effectively reducing 
transportation costs. The Company's three production facilities have a unified standard production 
process, which ensures stable product quality. This allows the Company to serve customers located 
throughout the country through its nationwide sales network. This provides customers with strong 
supply chain support so they can expand their business throughout the country while maintaining 
stable product quality. 

2. Sales strategy: 

The Company's current sales model primarily focuses on direct sales, with some coverage in 
distribution channels. Through years of layout planning, the Company has established a relatively 
complete marketing network system, with efficient and high-quality sales channels, and maintains 
close cooperative relationships with various channels. The Company can offer exclusive formula and 
packaging products based on the needs of direct sales customers to ensure product differentiation and 
provide customized sales and distribution to ensure stable supply quality and customer chain 
management orders. This aids the establishing of long-term cooperative partner relationships based 
on mutual trust. For customers through distributing channels, the Company has established a 
comprehensive distributor management system, which strictly controls the admission of distributors, 
offers guidance to distributors, provides product knowledge and industry training for distributors 
regularly, and offers new product menus and promotion plans to expand the Company's product 
visibility and influence. 

3. R&D strategy: 

The Company has a specialized R&D department that has established a comprehensive R&D 
system. The R&D department has a solid understanding of the fresh and healthy development trends 
in the beverage market and focuses on the development of nutritious and healthy products. The 
department has a small-scale experimental factory that offers R&D creativity, cost analysis, trial 
production, and product process standardization. The experimental factory has advanced 
experimental equipment, which can conduct basic research, tackle technical difficulties, reserve 
innovative technologies, optimize production processes and technologies, and provide effective 
support for product quality and diversification. Additionally, it can also effectively accelerate the 
development and production speed of new products and lead the market trend. The Company can 
complete the entire process from R&D creativity or customer demand proposal, to sample production, 
cost accounting, beverage application testing, rapid response trial in the pilot workshop, and 
marketing trial sales within one month. The Company's R&D team regularly visits the market and 
maintains close contact with customers to deepen customer cooperation and provide comprehensive 
solutions. At the same time, the Company can also develop new products in collaboration with various 
types of customers, providing tailored customized formulas to enable customers to have differentiated 
and competitive products in the channel. 



  

13 
 
 

Over the years of research and innovation, the Company has developed a robust product line, 
producing close to 2,000 different specifications and categories of products each year. Regarding 
product quality, the Company offers products with various amounts of fruit juice or pulp. In terms of 
taste, it offers popular flavors such as strawberry, mango, passion fruit, lemon, peach, and grape, as 
well as less common ones such as green plum, pomelo, longan, and Chinese Wampi. The Company 
also offers a variety of fruit-flavored complex tastes. The Company has played a crucial role in 
promoting the popularity of fruit tea by incorporating fruit pulp or fruit pieces to improve the texture 
of the beverage. With the continuous expansion of new tea beverage channels, the Company has 
launched new tea beverage products suitable for new retail channels, such as mango sago, waxberry 
sago, and lime juice, with advanced technology and food safety management. The Company's 
extensive and comprehensive product line can meet the diverse needs of the market and provide 
customers with diversified choices. 

4. Environmental protection strategy  

The Company is committed to upholding environmental quality and promoting sustainable 
development. To achieve this goal, the Company has installed new sewage treatment equipment and 
systems to improve its sewage treatment capabilities. All industrial wastewater generated during the 
production process is treated at the Company's self-built wastewater treatment plant. The COD 
content of the discharged water is lower than 50% of the national standard for local discharge. 
Moreover, the treated water is recycled for greening and irrigation within the factory premises, as 
well as for solid waste cleaning, which helps reduce the wastewater discharged. 

The Company continues to improve its processes and upgrade its equipment annually, reducing 
the amount of solid waste generated during production. Solar energy is used to power outdoor lights, 
and it is increasingly used in newly built companies. Different energy-saving and emission-reduction 
measures are formulated according to the geographical location and temperature differences of 
different factories, in order to reduce energy consumption and reduce pollution to the environment. 

5. Quality strategy  

The Company's products are raw materials for beverages that have a direct impact on consumers' 
health. Food safety has always been a top priority for the Company, and thus the Company has 
obtained certifications for ISO 9001 quality control system, ISO 22000 food safety management 
system, FSSC 22000 food safety system, HACCP management system, and ISO 14001 environmental 
management system. The Company has established a food safety management system that includes 
supplier evaluation, inbound inspection, raw material usage, production process monitoring, and 
product release inspection to guarantee product quality and safety. Every step is meticulously 
executed according to relevant quality standards to maintain quality control throughout the 
procurement, production, and sales processes. The Company's quality control system is effective and 
product quality is stable. 

V. Affected by the economic environment, external competitive environment, and regulatory 
environments 

1.  Influence of the economic environment 

① Over the past three years, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the Chinese 
economy, especially in 2022 when the pandemic repeatedly reemerged. After the comprehensive 
optimization of pandemic control measures, the public has become increasingly optimistic about 
a full economic recovery. The uncertainty of the global situation in 2023 and the decreasing 
efficiency of the global supply chain, as well as the long-term and structural factors of global 
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inflation, will continue to put pressure on inflation. The change in consumer habits will continue 
to have an impact on the food and beverage industry, and the changing external environment will 
also affect the Chinese economy, which will ultimately influence the government's choice of 
macroeconomic policies. 

② The uncertainties of geopolitical and extreme weather conditions will remain strong in 2023. The 
supply issues in the international energy market will persist, pushing up prices of energy, food, 
and bulk raw materials, which will drive up prices of food and consumer goods in China. Hence, 
there will be an increase in household consumption expenditure, and non-essential spending will 
be reduced as income does not increase significantly. 

③ The Chinese government's economic work conference has made important arrangements for 
economic operations in 2023, proposing to vigorously develop the digital economy, improve the 
level of normalized supervision, and support platform enterprises to demonstrate their 
capabilities in leading development, creating employment, and international competition. New 
tea beverage companies are utilizing new media platforms such as Douyin, live streaming, and 
short videos to increase their active users and exposure. 

④ On the positive side, in 2022, China's GDP surpassed the RMB 120 trillion mark, with a year-
on-year growth of 3.0%, making China's GDP the second-largest in the world. In 2023, the 
Chinese government's focus will be on expanding domestic demand, stabilizing growth, and 
ensuring employment. In the long run, consumer spending is anticipated to continue to grow. 

⑤ The Chinese government has also established a number of favorable policies to support the 
healthy development of manufacturing, service industries, real estate, and platform enterprise 
sectors. After the Chinese New Year, local governments issued consumer vouchers to stimulate 
consumption growth, and the market will gradually recover. The upward trend in energy, 
commodity, and raw material prices is expected to gradually ease. 

2. Influence of the competitive environment  

In 2023, the global economy is expected to remain strong, and the gradual recovery of the 
Chinese economy will increase the demand for various resources in the world. At the same time, it 
will also accelerate the adjustment of the distribution pattern of global economic interests. This will 
lead to increased friction among countries in the competition for resources and markets, and in 
addressing environmental issues. This increases pressure on China in its future development and the 
process of opening its borders, while it also places higher demands on China's continued participation 
in international competition. China has to further investigate and employ innovative economic growth 
models and strategies for international cooperation. It should actively address these problems, 
promote the cause of peace, development, and collaboration, and manage the tension between 
defending national interests and advancing the interests of all people. 

3. Influence of the legal environment 

① On February 2nd, the Ministry of Commerce declared 2023 as the "Year of Boosting 
Consumption," and will coordinate nationwide activities to promote consumption with this as the 
primary focus. Through provincial and municipal cooperation, inter-regional interaction, and 
active cooperation from relevant associations, businesses will be gathered and markets will be 
stimulated, forming waves of consumer enthusiasm. 

② The State Administration for Market Regulation's "Interim Measures for the Supervision and 
Administration of Quality and Safety of Food-Related Products" will go into effect on March 1st, 
2023. The interim measures establish a comprehensive control system covering the entire process 
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of production, storage, packaging, and other vital steps of food-related product production. The 
measures require producers to establish management systems and control measures for the 
management of raw and auxiliary materials, key production points, and final product inspection 
to achieve traceability of the quality and safety of food-related products. This will ensure that all 
links from the procurement of raw and auxiliary materials and additives to the sale of products 
can be effectively controlled, and safety risks and hidden dangers in the production process can 
be identified and addressed in a timely manner. 

③ The Ministry of Ecology and Environment held a routine press conference on January 17., in 
2023, the comprehensive implementation of the pollutant discharge permit system will be 
promoted, and the central government's opinions on strengthening law enforcement and 
supervision of pollutant discharge permits will be implemented. This will strengthen the "one-
permit" management and achieve pollutant discharge in accordance with the permit, with 
regulatory authorities supervising according to the permit. Promote the integration of the systems 
of environmental impact assessment, law enforcement, environmental statistics, and monitoring. 
Additionally, encourage the orderly integration of industrial noise and marine engineering into 
the pollutant discharge permit system, and implement comprehensive management. 

VI. Development strategies  

1、 The Company's main customers are new tea beverages and new retail businesses. To better serve 
these customers, the Company will provide them with tailored formulas and packaging for their 
products, ensuring product differentiation, supporting the development of supply chain system 
solutions, and building strategic partnerships. At the same time, the Company will fully optimize 
its dealer system, collaborate with high-quality dealers to provide customized products to meet 
the diverse needs of customers, gain mutually beneficial advantages from working with dealers, 
and achieve win-win outcomes for all parties while serving customers together. The Company 
will continue to expand its sales channels in the future and increase the coverage of its sales 
network from first and second-tier cities to third and fourth-tier cities, to increase the market 
breadth of its products and the number of its customer groups, and broaden the Company's 
product sales scale. 

2、 The Company will consistently adhere to a market and customer-oriented approach, continuously 
broaden its product lines and upgrade its product technology, to enhance its ability to quickly 
respond to customized customer needs. While serving customers, the Company will deepen its 
understanding of the industry and market through industry reports and big data analysis, which 
will enable the Company to lead market trends and enhance its core competitiveness. 

3、 The Company has launched a plan to lay out new production lines and increase production 
capacity at its production facilities to meet the needs of business development, improve 
production efficiency, and ensure timely delivery. The Company has formed three major 
production facilities in Kunshan, Guangdong, and Tianjin, with a new addition of a raw material 
processing facility in Baise, Guangxi. While ensuring product quality, the Company will increase 
the scale of production and manufacturing to better promote business development, boost 
profitability, and enhance competitiveness. 

4、 The Company considers human resources as its most valuable asset, and it will actively promote 
localization, youthfulness, and professionalism of its talent team based on its existing workforce. 
The Company will further strengthen its corporate culture construction, improve its employment 
mechanism, stabilize its core team, and lay a solid talent foundation for the Company's 
development. 

5、 The Company will seek to acquire or merge with businesses and technology achievements related 
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to its main business when conditions are suitable, in line with the basic principle of maximizing 
shareholder value. This will help integrate market resources, achieve low-cost expansion, 
improve product series and market layout, increase market share, extend the industrial chain, and 
reduce operating costs. 

6、 As China's economy continues to grow and consumer preferences for beverages evolve, the 
Company plans to further strengthen its focus on the emerging retail market and develop a range 
of organic, healthy, nutritious, and delicious ready-to-drink products. At the same time, the 
Company will further optimize its product structure based on its existing product line, enabling 
its products to be widely used in the food industry, catering channels, everyday life, entertainment, 
and other applicable scenarios. By capturing consumer trends, and steadily improving brand 
awareness and influence, the Company aims to become a leading supplier in the new tea 
beverages supply chain. 

Looking ahead to 2023, the Chinese economy is expected to enter a stage of recovery and growth 
with continuous optimization of pandemic prevention and control measures, the recovery of economic 
and social activities, and the combined efforts of various favorable policies. 

On behalf of all our colleagues, we would like to thank our shareholders for long-standing care 
and support.  The Company has always been committed to producing natural, healthy, safe, and 
delicious products, and is dedicated to the development and upgrading of high-quality products. The 
Company continuously meets the personalized needs of new tea beverage companies and provides 
customized products and full-process services to customers. The Company will continue to strive to 
become an excellent supply chain supplier for the food and beverage industry and create maximum 
benefits for shareholders. 

To all shareholders 

In good health and good business 

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

CHAIRMAN: HUANG, KUO-HUANG 

GENERAL MANAGER: WANG, MING-CHIH 
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Attachment II   

 

Audit Committee Review Report 

The board of directors has prepared the 2022 Business Report, consolidated 

financial statements and earnings distribution. The consolidated financial 

statements were audited by CPA Steven Hsieh and CPA Ian Huang from 

Deloitte Taiwan and an independent audit report has been issued accordingly.  

No nonconformities were detected in audits of the aforementioned Business 

Report, Consolidated Financial Statement, and Earnings Distribution 

Proposal by the Audit Committee. This report is respectfully submitted for 

review and approval pursuant to the provisions set forth in Article 14-4 of 

the Securities and Exchange Act and Article 219 of the Company Act. 

Sincerely  

2023 General Shareholders’ Meeting 

 

Convener of Audit Committee:   (signature) 

March 24, 2023  
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Attachment III 

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Comparison table for the revision of the Company’s “Procedure for 

Board of Directors’ Meetings” 

Original Provisions Amended Articles Explanation 
Article 3 

Paragraph 4 All the matters specified 

in Article 12, Paragraph 1 of this 

regulation should be listed in the 

notice of the meeting. They cannot 

be proposed as an Extraordinary 

Motion unless there are unforeseen 

emergency circumstances or 

justifiable reasons.  

Article 3 

Paragraph 4 All the matters specified 

in Article 12, Paragraph 1 of this 

regulation should be listed in the 

notice of the meeting, as they cannot 

be raised by an Extraordinary 

Motion. 

  

Revisions 

made in line 

with 

ordinances 

Article 12 

 

 

 

 

Paragraph 6. The appointment or 

dismissal of the finance, accounting, 

or internal audit Director. 

Paragraph 7. Donations to related 

parties or significant donations to 

non-related parties. However, cases 

of donations related to public 

welfare, such as those for emergency 

relief due to major natural disasters, 

may be retroactively approved by the 

next Board of Directors meeting. 

Paragraph 8. Significant matters that 

are required to be resolved by the 

shareholders' meeting, Board of 

Directors, or respective authorities in 

accordance with the Securities and 

Article 12 

Paragraph 6. The election or 

dismissal of the Chairman of the 

Board when the Board of Directors 

does not have a standing Director. 

Paragraph 7. The appointment or 

dismissal of the finance, accounting, 

or internal audit Director. 

Paragraph 8. Donations to related 

parties or significant donations to 

non-related parties. However, cases 

of donations related to public 

welfare, such as those for emergency 

relief due to major natural disasters, 

may be retroactively approved by the 

next Board of Directors meeting. 

Paragraph 9. Significant matters that 

are required to be resolved by the 

shareholders' meeting, Board of 

Directors, or respective authorities in 

accordance with the Securities and 

Revisions 

made in line 

with 

ordinances 
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Exchange Act Article 14-3, other 

laws or regulations, or the articles of 

association. 

The term "related party" referred to 

in Paragraph 7 refers to the related 

parties as defined by the Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers. 

Exchange Act Article 14-3, other 

laws or regulations, or the articles of 

association. 

The term "related party" referred to 

in Paragraph 8 refers to the related 

parties as defined by the Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers. 
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Attachment IV   

Sunjuice Co., Ltd. 

Commitments for Overseas Listing 

SN Commitment letter name 
Issuing Company (Note) 

Sunjuice 

Holdings 
Sunjuice 

HK 
Power 

Keen 
Sunjuice 

1 

Stabilization of stock price pledge 

following the initial public offering 

and listing on the main board of the 

Shenzhen Stock Exchange 

V V V V 

2 
Commitment to fill in the diluted 

immediate return measures 
V V V V 

3 

Commitments on circulation 

restrictions and voluntary lock-up, 

reduction of shareholding 

intentions 

V V V  

4 
Commitment to repurchase and buy 

back shares in case of fraudulent 

issuance and listing 
V V V V 

5 
Commitment to assume 

compensation liability in 

accordance with the law 
V V V V 

6 
Commitment to refrain from 

competing with peers 
V V V  

7 
Commitment to standardizing and 

reducing related party transactions 
V V V  

8 
Commitment to avoid fund 

occupancy 
V V V  

9 
Commitment to fulfill binding 

measures in case of failure to fulfill 

the commitment 
V V V V 

10 

Commitment to maintaining 

independence between business, 

asset, personnel, finance, and 

institutional aspects 

V V V V 
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11 
Commitment to payment of social 

insurance premiums and housing 

provident fund 
V V V  

12 
Commitment on defective leased 

property 
V V V  

13 

Commitment regarding the legal 

and compliant status of the 

company's shareholders' holding 

shares 

   V 

14 
Commitment regarding the profit 

distribution policy 
   V 

Note: Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd abbreviated as “Sunjuice Holdings” 

Sunjuice (Hong Kong) Limited abbreviated as “Sunjuice HK” 

Power Keen Limited abbreviated as “Power Keen” 

Sunjuice Co., Ltd. abbreviated as “Sunjuice” 
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Attachment V   
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Sunjuice Holdings Co., Limited 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sunjuice Holdings Co., 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and 
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 
Issuers, and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting 
Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC) endorsed and issued 
into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 
Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and the Standards on Auditing of the 
Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public 
Accountant of the Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 
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The key audit matter identified in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 is described as follows: 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
In consideration of the materiality, auditing standards and recognition of sales revenue, which 
includes a presumption of significant risk, we identified the occurrence of sales revenue from 
customers that meet specific standards as a key audit matter. Refer Note 4(k) for the related 
accounting policies. 
 
Our main audit procedures performed in respect of the above mentioned key audit matter included 
the following: 
 
1. We understood and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the key controls. 
 
2. We sampled the details of sales revenue derived from specific customers and obtained related 

orders, shipment notifications, and payment records to verify the validity of the revenue 
recognition. 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by 
Securities Issuers, and the IFRS, IAS, IFRIC, and SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the 
Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing of in the Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the Group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2022 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
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The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Ming-
Chung Hsieh and Yi-Min Huang. 
 
 
 
 
 
Deloitte & Touche 
Taipei, Taiwan 
Republic of China 
 
March 24, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notice to Readers 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles 
and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other jurisdictions. 
The standards, procedures and practices to audit such consolidated financial statements are those 
generally applied in the Republic of China. 
 
For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese 
version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English 
version and the original Chinese version or any difference in the interpretation of the two versions, 
the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and consolidated financial statements shall 
prevail. 

  



 

 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
 
 
  2022  2021 
ASSETS  Amount  %  Amount  % 
         
CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6)    $ 1,156,885     25    $ 1,640,941     34 
Financial assets at amortized cost - current (Notes 7 and 27)     329,894     7     -     - 
Notes receivable (Note 8)     -     -     2,949     - 
Trade receivables (Notes 8, 18 and 28)     354,027     8     277,131     6 
Other receivables     28,178     1     12,434     - 
Current tax assets (Note 20)     11     -     9,294     - 
Inventories (Note 9)     459,196     10     451,261     10 
Prepayments (Note 13)     104,159     2     52,428     1 
Other current assets     22,898     -     341     - 

                     
Total current assets     2,455,248     53     2,446,779     51 

                     
NON-CURRENT ASSETS         

Financial assets at amortized cost - non-current (Notes 7 and 27)     -     -     347,520     7 
Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)     1,905,660     41     1,649,067     34 
Right-of-use assets (Note 12)     132,826     3     119,066     2 
Intangible assets     38,442     1     39,093     1 
Deferred income tax assets (Note 20)     34,189     -     42,031     1 
Prepayments of equipment (Note 13)     93,633     2     169,184     4 
Refundable deposits (Note 13)     13,083     -     8,816     - 

                     
Total non-current assets     2,217,833     47     2,374,777     49 

                     
TOTAL    $ 4,673,081     100    $ 4,821,556     100 
         
         
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         
         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Short-term borrowings (Note 14)    $ -     -    $ 83,088     2 
Contract liabilities - current (Note 18)     72,001     2     128,079     2 
Trade payables (Note 15)     188,562     4     179,507     4 
Other payables (Note 16)     228,603     5     235,868     5 
Current tax liabilities (Note 20)     15,665     -     1,645     - 
Lease liabilities - current (Note 12)     4,099     -     922     - 
Other current liabilities     322     -     122     - 

                     
Total current liabilities     509,252     11     629,231     13 

                     
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 20)     19,443     1     137,705     3 
Lease liabilities - non-current (Note 12)     13,402     -     240     - 
Deferred revenue - non-current (Notes 16 and 22)     12,712     -     12,823     - 
Guarantee deposits received (Note 16)     18,222     -     20,372     1 

                     
Total non-current liabilities     63,779     1     171,140     4 

                     
    Total liabilities     573,031     12     800,371     17 

                     
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (Note 17)         

Capital         
Share capital     338,422     7     338,422     7 

Capital surplus         
Additional paid-in capital     1,145,562     25     1,145,562     24 

Retained earnings         
Reserve     390,318     8     319,447     7 
Special reserve     119,809     3     100,235     2 
Unappropriated earnings     1,731,356     37     1,858,653     38 

Total retained earnings     2,241,483     48     2,278,335     47 
Other equity         

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations     (71,140)     (2)     (119,808)     (3) 
                     

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company     3,654,327     78     3,642,511     75 
                     
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS     445,723     10     378,674     8 
                     

    Total equity     4,100,050     88     4,021,185     83 
                     
TOTAL    $ 4,673,081     100    $ 4,821,556     100 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



 

 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 
 
 
  2022  2021 
  Amount  %  Amount  % 
         
OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 18, 28 and 33)         

Sales    $ 4,206,922     102    $ 4,671,946     102 
Sales returns     (98,411)     (2)     (77,493)     (2) 
Sales allowance     (7,118)     -     (12,483)     - 

                     
Total operating revenues     4,101,393     100     4,581,970     100 

                     
OPERATING COSTS (Notes 9 and 19)     (2,931,835)     (71)     (2,921,115)     (64) 
                     
GROSS PROFIT     1,169,558     29     1,660,855     36 
                     
OPERATING EXPENSES (Note 19)         

Selling and marketing expenses     (260,056)     (6)     (262,679)     (6) 
General and administrative expenses     (287,886)     (7)     (346,587)     (7) 
Research and development expenses     (60,719)     (2)     (65,259)     (1) 
Expected credit (loss) gain     (7,405)     -     4,963     - 

                     
Total operating expenses     (616,066)     (15)     (669,562)     (14) 

                     
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS     553,492     14     991,293     22 
                     
NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES (Note 

19)         
Interest income     35,951     1     19,043     - 
Other income     35,976     1     29,799     1 
Other gains and losses     5,987     -     (21,477)     (1) 
Finance costs     (1,332)     -     (1,069)     - 

                     
Total non-operating income and expenses     76,582     2     26,296     - 

                     
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX     630,074     16     1,017,589     22 
                     
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Note 20)     (165,382)     (4)     (312,298)     (7) 
                     
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR     464,692     12     705,291     15 
                     
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)         

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:         
Exchange differences on translation to the 

presentation currency     54,121     1     (21,032)     - 
                     

(Continued) 



 

 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 
 
 
  2022  2021 
  Amount  %  Amount  % 
         
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR    $ 518,813     13    $ 684,259     15 
                     
NET PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO:         

Owners of the Company    $ 403,294     10    $ 708,708     15 
Non-controlling interests     61,398     1     (3,417)     - 

                     
    $ 464,692     11    $ 705,291     15 
                     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:         
Owners of the Company    $ 451,962     11    $ 689,135     15 
Non-controlling interests     66,851     2     (4,876)     - 

                     
    $ 518,813     13    $ 684,259     15 

 
EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 21)         

Basic    $ 11.92      $ 20.94   
Diluted    $ 11.91      $ 20.93   

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Concluded) 



 

 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 
  Equity Attributable to the Owners of the Company     
              Other Equity       
              Exchange       
  Capital Stock - Common Stock      Differences on       
  Number of      Retained Earnings  Translating       
  Shares          Unappropriated  Foreign    Non-controlling   
  (In Thousands)  Amount  Capital Surplus  Reserve  Special Reserve  Earnings  Operations  Total  Interests  Total Equity 
                     
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2021     33,842    $ 338,422    $ 425,602    $ 241,627    $ 145,105    $ 1,589,611    $ (100,235)    $ 2,640,132    $ 30,603    $ 2,670,735 
                                                   
Appropriation of 2020 earnings                     

Reserve     -     -     -     77,820     -     (77,820)     -     -     -     - 
Special reserve     -     -     -     -     (44,870)     44,870     -     -     -     - 
Cash dividends distributed by the Company     -     -     -     -     -     (406,106)     -     (406,106)     -     (406,106) 

                                                   
Cash dividends distributed by subsidiaries     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     (511)     (511) 
                                                   
Net profit (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2021     -     -     -     -     -     708,708     -     708,708     (3,417)     705,291 
                                                   
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended 

December 31, 2021, net of income tax     -     -     -     -     -     -     (19,573)     (19,573)     (1,459)     (21,032) 
                                                   
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended 

December 31, 2021     -     -     -     -     -     708,708     (19,573)     689,135     (4,876)     684,259 
                                                   
Changes in non-controlling interests     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     353,458     353,458 
                                                   
Changes in percentage of ownership interests in 

subsidiaries     -     -     719,960     -     -     -     -     719,960     -     719,960 
                                                   
Difference between consideration and carrying amount of 

subsidiaries acquired or disposed     -     -     -     -     -     (610)     -     (610)     -     (610) 
                                                   
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021     33,842     338,422     1,145,562     319,447     100,235     1,858,653     (119,808)     3,642,511     378,674     4,021,185 
                                                   
Appropriation of 2021 earnings                     

Reserve     -     -     -     70,871     -     (70,871)     -     -     -     - 
Special reserve     -     -     -     -     19,574     (19,574)     -     -     -     - 
Cash dividends distributed by the Company     -     -     -     -     -     (439,948)     -     (439,948)     -     (439,948) 

                                                   
Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022     -     -     -     -     -     403,294     -     403,294     61,398     464,692 
                                                   
Other comprehensive income for the year ended December 

31, 2022, net of income tax     -     -     -     -     -     -     48,668     48,668     5,453     54,121 
                                                   
Total comprehensive income for the year ended December 

31, 2022     -     -     -     -     -     403,294     48,668     451,962     66,851     518,813 
                                                   
Difference between consideration and carrying amount of 

subsidiaries acquired or disposed     -     -     -     -     -     (198)     -     (198)     198     - 
                                                   
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022     33,842    $ 338,422    $ 1,145,562    $ 390,318    $ 119,809    $ 1,731,356    $ (71,140)    $ 3,654,327    $ 445,723    $ 4,100,050 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



 

 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
 
  2022  2021 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Income before income tax    $ 630,074    $ 1,017,589 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation expenses     214,647     184,017 
Amortization expenses     6,172     6,684 
Expected credit loss recognized (reversed) on trade receivables     7,405     (4,963) 
Net gain on fair value changes of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss     -     (3,838) 
Finance costs     1,332     1,069 
Interest income     (35,951)     (19,043) 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment     3,763     94 
Impairment loss recognized on property, plant and equipment     -     15,760 
Write-down of inventories     356     7,511 
Government grants     (300)     (296) 
Loss on disposal of subsidiary     -     6 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

Notes receivable     2,949     1,859 
Trade receivables     (84,365)     12,448 
Other receivables     (4,815)     2,741 
Inventories     (8,353)     (160,112) 
Prepayments     (51,731)     3,397 
Other current assets     (22,557)     45 
Contract liabilities     (56,078)     23,370 
Trade payables     9,055     (22,157) 
Other payables     (39,665)     (17,686) 
Other current liabilities     200     (740) 

Cash generated from operations     572,138     1,047,755 
Interest paid     (1,436)     (776) 
Income taxes paid     (254,076)     (373,901) 

           
Net cash generated from operating activities     316,626     673,078 

           
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Purchase of financial assets at amortized cost     (743,609)     (226,332) 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at amortized cost     766,069     52,964 
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     -     (917,984) 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss     -     1,255,185 
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiary     -     (2,331) 
Payments for property, plant and equipment     (294,769)     (206,063) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment     6,047     2,127 
Increase in refundable deposits     (9,403)     (3,190) 
Decrease in refundable deposits     5,256     1,321 
Payments for intangible assets     (4,955)     (29,213) 
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets     -     2,714 

(Continued) 



 

 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
 
 
  2022  2021 
     

Increase in prepayments for equipment     (38,936)     (199,889) 
Interest received     25,022     23,409 

           
Net cash used in investing activities     (289,278)     (247,282) 

           
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from short-term borrowings     86,061     309,376 
Repayments of short-term borrowings     (172,122)     (311,900) 
Proceeds from guarantee deposits received     1,167     23,534 
Refund of guarantee deposits received     (3,624)     (28,728) 
Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities     (3,288)     (1,376) 
Dividends paid to owners of the Company     (439,948)     (406,106) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests     -     (511) 
Proceeds from subsidiary's cash capital increase     -     1,079,240 

           
Net cash (used in) generated from financing activities     (531,754)     663,529 

           
EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE BALANCE OF 

CASH HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES     20,350     (5,464) 
           
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS     (484,056)     1,083,861 
           
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE 

YEAR     1,640,941     557,080 
           
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR    $ 1,156,885    $ 1,640,941 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Concluded) 

 

  



 

 

Attachment VI   

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Table of 2022 Earnings Distribution 
                                                          unit: NTD 

Items Total 

Beginning Period Undistributed Retained Earnings 1,328,260,602 

  adopting TIFRS adjustment  

  initial account of special reserve with TIFRS  

adjusted Beginning Period Undistributed Retained Earnings 1,328,260,602 

initial account of special reserve with TIFRS reversal  

Disposal (or cancelled) of treasury stock debit retained 

earnings 
 

long term equity investment adjusted retained earnings (197,998) 

Actuarial gains (losses) through retained earnings  

adjusted undistributed retained earnings 1,328,062,604 

Net profit this period 403,293,627 

account legal reserve (10%) 40,309,563 

account special reserve in accordance to law  

account special reserve in accordance to law reversal 48,668,129 

self-accounted special reserve  

self-accounted special reserve reversal  

Distributable Retained Earnings this period 1,739,714,797 

Distributed Items  

    Stock Dividends  

   Cash Dividends 219,974,040 

End of Period Undistributed Retained Earnings 1,519,740,757 

Chairman: HUANG,KUO-HUANG  General Manager: WANG,MING-CHIH  

Finance Officer: CHEN,YI-JU 

Note 1:  In the event that the proposed profit distribution is affected by the change in number of shares 
outstanding due to the issuance of new shares due to stock option transfer, buyback of shares 
or the transferring or canceling of treasury shares, it is proposed that the Board of Directors be 
authorized to handle and make adjustments.   

Note 2:  Cash dividends at NT$6.5 per share will be distributed after the approval by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting and the decision on base date for dividends by the board of directors 
under authorization.  



 

 

Attachment VII 

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Director (including independent directors) Nominee List 

Job title Name 
Shares 

Held 

Educational 

background 
Key Working Experience Current Position 

Whether or 
not he/she 
has served 

as an 
independen
t director 
for three 

consecutiv
e terms. 

The reason to 
nominate 

him/she as an 
independent 
director for 

three 
consecutive 

terms. 

Director 

HUANG

,KUO-

HUANG 

9,093,84

9 

Department of 

Agricultural 

Machinery 

Science, 

National Chiayi 

Institute of 

Agriculture 

Responsible Person of Taiwan 

Fresh Life Co., Ltd.  

Business Manager of 

Agricultural Monarch Trade 

Co., Ltd.  

Teacher of Wan-Neng Senior 

Industrial and Commercial 

Vocational School  

Kendo Referee of Taiwan 

Sports  

Vice Director of R.O.C. 

Kendo Association  

Executive Director as well as 

President of Fresh Food 

(Kunshan) Co. Ltd. 

Executive Director of Sense 

International Limited 

Chairman of Sunjuice Holdings 

Co., Ltd. 

Director of Power Keen Limited 

Director of Sunjuice (HK) 

Limited 

Chairman and CEO of Sunjuice 

Co., Ltd. 

Executive Director of Shanghai 

Sense Beverage Co., Ltd. 

Director of Sunjuice I 

International Limited  

Director of Suzhou Fresh South 

Food Industry Co., Ltd.  

Executive Director of Fresh Juice 

Industry (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. 

Executive Director of Guangdong 

Fresh Juice Biotechnology Co., 

Ltd. 

Not 

applicable. 

Not 

applicable. 

Director 
LIN,LI-

LING  

6,178,26

4 

Department of 

Agricultural 

Economics, 

National Chiayi 

Institute of 

Agriculture 

Financial Officer of Fresh Life 

(Kunshan) Food Industry Co., 

Ltd.  

Special Assistant to President 

of Fresh Life (Kunshan) Food 

Industry Co., Ltd.  

Executive Director as well as 

President of Kunshan 

Jianghang Ecological 

Director of Sunjuice Holdings 

Co., Ltd. 

Special Assistant to the Chairman 

of Sunjuice Co., Ltd. 

Director of Sunjuice I 

International Limited  

Executive Director as well as 

President of Suzhou Fresh South 

Food Industry Co., Ltd.  

Not 

applicable. 

Not 

applicable. 



 

 

Job title Name 
Shares 

Held 

Educational 

background 
Key Working Experience Current Position 

Whether or 
not he/she 
has served 

as an 
independen
t director 
for three 

consecutiv
e terms. 

The reason to 
nominate 

him/she as an 
independent 
director for 

three 
consecutive 

terms. 

Agriculture Science & 

Technology Development Co., 

Ltd.  

Executive Director of Guangxi 

Sunjuice Biological Technology 

Co., Ltd. 

Executive Director and President 

of IM Trade (Kunshan) Co., 

Limited 

Executive Director and President 

of Sun Philippe Trade (Kunshan) 

Co., Limited 

Director 

WU,MI

NG-

HSIEN 

1,232,40

6 

Mater of 

Business 

Administration, 

National Chung 

Cheng 

University  

Sales Executive of Aphrodite 

Industry Co., Ltd.  

Responsible Person of 

Modern Era Digital 

Technology Inc.  

General Manager of 

Management Department of 

Fresh Life (Kunshan) Food 

Industry Co., Ltd.  

Vice President of Fresh Food 

(Kunshan) Co. Ltd.  

Vice President of Fresh Juice 

Industry (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.  

Director of Axis 3D 

Technology, Inc.  

Executive Director as well as 

President of Kunshan 

Jianghang Ecological 

Agriculture Science & 

Technology Development Co., 

Ltd.  

President of Fresh Juice 

Industry (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.  

Director of Sunjuice Holdings 

Co., Ltd. 

Director of Sunjuice I 

International Limited  

Not 

applicable. 

Not 

applicable. 



 

 

Job title Name 
Shares 

Held 

Educational 

background 
Key Working Experience Current Position 

Whether or 
not he/she 
has served 

as an 
independen
t director 
for three 

consecutiv
e terms. 

The reason to 
nominate 

him/she as an 
independent 
director for 

three 
consecutive 

terms. 

Executive Director as well as 

President of Suzhou Fresh 

South Food Industry Co., Ltd. 

Director 

HUANG

,HSUN-

YI 

319,879 

Mater of 

Business 

Administration

, The 

University of 

Houston, USA 

Ph.D. of 

Hospitality and 

Travel 

Marketing, 

Victoria 

University, 

AUS  

Responsible Person of 

UNITOP-APEX Co., Ltd.  

Chairman of Wan-Neng 

Senior Industrial and 

Commercial Vocational 

School  

Chairman of Hospitality 

Management, Wufeng 

University 

Special Assistant to President 

of Fresh Juice Industry 

(Kunshan) Co., Ltd. 

Director of Sunjuice Holdings 

Co., Ltd. 

Chief engineer of  Sunjuice Co., 

Ltd. 

President of Guangdong Fresh 

Juice Biotechnology Co., Ltd.  

Director of Sunjuice I 

International Limited  

Director of Suzhou Fresh South 

Food Industry Co., Ltd.  

Director of Wan-Neng Senior 

Industrial and Commercial 

Vocational School 

Managing Director of 

TaiAnJingZhong Cultural & 

Educational Foundation 

President of Guangxi Sunjuice 

Biological Technology Co., Ltd. 

Not 

applicable. 

Not 

applicable. 

Director 

LIU, 

HSUAN

-CHE 

NA 

Master of 

Business 

Administration, 

Industrial 

Management 

Technology 

Program, 

Department of 

Engineering 

and Technology 

Research, 

Vice President of Investment 

Banking Business Group at 

First Securities Inc. 

Vice President of Capital 

Market Business Division, 

Mega Securities Co., Ltd. 

Special Assistant to the Chairman 

of Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Director of Sinew Pharma Inc. 

Independent Director of 3D 

Global Biotech Inc. 

Independent Director of Stemcyte 

International, Ltd. 

Not 

applicable. 

Not 

applicable. 



 

 

Job title Name 
Shares 

Held 

Educational 

background 
Key Working Experience Current Position 

Whether or 
not he/she 
has served 

as an 
independen
t director 
for three 

consecutiv
e terms. 

The reason to 
nominate 

him/she as an 
independent 
director for 

three 
consecutive 

terms. 

National 

Taiwan 

University of 

Science and 

Technology 

Indepen

dent 

Director 

LO,SHI

H-WEI 
NA 

Bachelor of 

Accounting, 

Chung Yuan 

Christian 

University  

Executive 

Master 

Program in 

Business 

Management, 

National Chiao 

Tung 

University  

 

Vice President of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

(PwC) Taiwan  

Independent Director, 

Commissioner of 

Remuneration & 

Compensation as well as 

Audit of Dreamtek 

International Corp.  

Vice President as well as Chief 

Financial Officer of Management 

Center of Chipbond Technology 

Corp.  

Supervisor of Feature Integration 

Technology Inc.  

Supervisor of Vision Advance 

Technology Inc.  

Independent Director, 

Commissioner of Remuneration 

& Compensation as well as Audit 

of GigaSolar Materials Corp.  

Independent Director, 

Commissioner of Remuneration 

& Compensation as well as Audit 

of Giga Diamond Materials Corp. 

Representative of Juridical 

Person Director of Hefei Eswin 

Assembly Technology Inc.  

Representative of Juridical 

Person Director of Hefei Eswin 

Materials Technology Inc.  

Independent Director, 

Remuneration Committee 

Member, and Audit Committee 

Member of Sunjuice Holdings 

Co., Ltd. 

YES 

Nominee is a 

financial 

professional, 

familiar with 

relevant laws 

and 

regulations 

and corporate 

governance 

expertise. The 

nominee has 

obvious 

benefits to the 

Company. 

Therefore, the 

Company 

nominate Mr. 

LO,SHIH-

WEI as one 

of 

independent 

director 

nominees. So 

that he can 

use his 

expertise and 

provides 



 

 

Job title Name 
Shares 

Held 

Educational 

background 
Key Working Experience Current Position 

Whether or 
not he/she 
has served 

as an 
independen
t director 
for three 

consecutiv
e terms. 

The reason to 
nominate 

him/she as an 
independent 
director for 

three 
consecutive 

terms. 

professional 

advice to the 

board of 

directors 

when 

exercising his 

duties as 

independent 

directors 

Indepen

dent 

Director 

LIN, 

FENG-

YI  

NA 

Bachelor of 

Accounting, 

Soochow 

University 

Master of 

Economics, 

Nankai 

University 

Director and VP, Want Want 

China Holdings Limited 

Independent Director, Jouder 

Precision Industry (Kunshan) 

Co., Ltd. 

Independent Director, Grape 

King Bio Ltd. 

Independent Director, Wafer 

Works Corp. 

Independent Director, Digiwin 

Software Co.,Ltd.  

Director, Shanghai Karon Eco-

Valve Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 

Independent Director, 

Remuneration Committee 

Member, and Audit Committee 

Member of Sunjuice Holdings 

Co., Ltd. 

NO 
Not 

applicable. 

Indepen

dent 

Director 

CHEN, 

YUNG-

LUNG 

NA 

Bachelor of 

Accounting, 

Fu Jen 

Catholic 

University 

Senior Manager at PwC 

Vice President at Franklin 

Sino AM Co., Ltd. 

CEO of Sinture Holding 

(Vietnam) Ltd. 

Independent Director of B’in 

Live Co., Ltd. 

CEO of Qixin Liben 

Management Consulting Co., 

Ltd. 

Independent Director of Tong 

Ming Enterprise Co., Ltd 

NO 
Not 

applicable. 

  



 

 

Attachment VIII 

Comparison Chart for M&A Amendment 

of  

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd (Chinese Version) 

 

Article Current Provision Amended Provision Reason of 

Amendment 

   
Heading 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

MEMORANDUM & ARTICLES 

OF 

ASSOCIATION 

OF 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., 

LIMITED 

(AMENDED BY SPECIAL 

RESOLUTION PASSED ON MAY 28, 

2020) 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

MEMORANDUM & ARTICLES 

OF 

ASSOCIATION 

OF 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., 

LIMITED 

(AMENDED BY SPECIAL 

RESOLUTION PASSED ON MAY 26, 

2023) 

Renew the date 

of amendment 

 
The Registered Office of the Company will 

be situated at the offices of TMF (Cayman) 

Ltd, 2nd Floor, The Grand Pavilion 

Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, 

P.O. Box 10338, Grand Cayman KY1-

1003, Cayman Islands or at such other 

location as the Directors may from time to 

time determine. 

The Registered Office of the Company will 

be situated at the offices of Suite 102, 

Cannon Place, P.O. Box 712, North Sound 

Rd; Grand Cayman, KY1-9006, Cayman 

Islands or at such other location as the 

Directors may from time to time determine. 

Amended in 

accordance to 

change of 

registered 

Cayman Islands 

address. 

41-1 

 

 (New) The general meeting of the Company can 

be held by means of visual communication 

network or other methods promulgated by 

the competent authority under Company 

Act of the Republic of China. In the case of 

natural disasters, incidents or other force 

Amended in 

accordance with 

the “Check List 

of Shareholders’ 

Right Protection 

Matters at the 



 

 

majeure events, the Company may, in 

accordance with the promulgation by the 

competent authority under the Company 

Act of the Republic of China, without first 

being specified in its Memorandum and 

Articles of Association, hold the general 

meeting with visual communication 

network or other methods promulgated by 

the competent authority during a certain 

period. 

In case the general meeting is proceeded 

via visual communication network, the 

Member(s) taking part in such a visual 

communication meeting shall be deemed to 

have attended the meeting in person. 

The Applicable Listing Rules shall govern 

the relevant conditions, process and other 

regulations that the Company shall abide by 

with regard to the general meeting 

proceeded via visual communication 

network. 

Foreign Issuer’s 

Registered 

Country” 

45 
For so long as the Shares are registered in 

the Emerging Market or listed on the 

GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the 

Company shall prepare a manual and 

related materials for each general meeting. 

Such manual and materials shall be 

published on the website designated by the 

Commission and the GreTai Securities 

Market or TSE pursuant to the Applicable 

Listing Rules at least 21 days prior to the 

date of the relevant annual general meeting 

or 15 days prior to the date of the relevant 

extraordinary general meeting. 

For so long as the Shares are registered in 

the Emerging Market or listed on the 

GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the 

Company shall prepare a manual and 

related materials for each general meeting. 

Such manual and materials shall be 

published on the website designated by the 

Commission and the GreTai Securities 

Market or TSE pursuant to the Applicable 

Listing Rules at least 21 days prior to the 

date of the relevant annual general meeting 

or 15 days prior to the date of the relevant 

extraordinary general meeting. 

However, in the case that the Company 

with paid-in capital reaching NT$10 billion 

or more as of the last day of the most recent 

fiscal year, or in which the aggregate 

Amended in 

accordance with 

the “Check List 

of Shareholders’ 

Right Protection 

Matters at the 

Foreign Issuer’s 

Registered 

Country” 



 

 

shareholding percentage of foreign 

investors and Mainland Chinese investors 

reached 30% or more as recorded in the 

Register at the time of holding of the annual 

general meeting in the most recent fiscal 

year, it shall upload the aforesaid electronic 

file by 30 days prior to the day on which the 

annual general meeting is to be held. 

56 
In the event any of the resolutions with 

respect to any of the following matters, any 

Member with objection against which may 

request the Company to repurchase his/her 

shares: 

(a) the Paragraph 1, Subparagraph (a), (b), 

(c) or (d) of Article 54; 

(b) spin-off or merger, acquisition or share 

exchange with other company; or 

(c) in accordance with any specific 

provisions under any applicable listing 

rules. 

The Member filing a request under the 

preceding paragraph shall make it in 

writing within 20 days since the resolution 

of the general meeting was made and 

specify the price for buying back. In the 

event the price of the Shares repurchase is 

negotiated and agreed upon by and 

between the Company and the selling 

Member, the Company shall pay the 

repurchase price to such selling Member 

within 90 days upon the resolution date of 

the general meeting. If the Company and 

the selling Member fail to reach an 

agreement on the price of Shares 

repurchase, the Company shall pay the 

repurchase price that it determines as fair 

price to the Member who has not so agreed 

on the repurchase price. Company fails to 

In the event any of the resolutions with 

respect to any of the following matters, any 

Member with objection against which may 

request the Company to repurchase his/her 

shares: 

(a) the Paragraph 1, Subparagraph (a), (b), 

(c) or (d) of Article 54; 

(b) spin-off or merger, acquisition or share 

exchange with other company; or 

(c) in accordance with any specific 

provisions under any applicable listing 

rules. 

The Member filing a request under the 

preceding paragraph shall make it in 

writing within 20 days since the resolution 

of the general meeting was made and 

specify the price for buying back. In the 

event the price of the Shares repurchase is 

negotiated and agreed upon by and between 

the Company and the selling Member, the 

Company shall pay the repurchase price to 

such selling Member within 90 days upon 

the resolution date of the general meeting. 

If the Company and the selling Member fail 

to reach an agreement on the price of 

Shares repurchase, the Company shall pay 

the repurchase price that it determines as 

fair price to the Member who has not so 

agreed on the repurchase price. Company 

fails to so pay the repurchase price to the 

Amended in 

accordance with 

the “Check List 

of Shareholders’ 

Right Protection 

Matters at the 

Foreign Issuer’s 

Registered 

Country” 



 

 

so pay the repurchase price to the selling 

Member shall deemed that it has agreed 

upon the repurchase price specified by the 

selling Member. 

In the event the Company and the selling 

Member fail to reach an agreement on the 

price of Shares repurchase within 60 days 

upon the resolution date of the general 

meeting, the Company shall, within 30 

days upon the lapse of such 60-day period, 

file a motion with the Taiwan Taipei 

District Court, in which all selling 

Members who disagree with the repurchase 

price are listed as respondents, to issue a 

ruling on the repurchase price. 

selling Member shall deemed that it has 

agreed upon the repurchase price specified 

by the selling Member. 

In the event the Company and the selling 

Member who has voted against such matter 

during the meeting or expressed his 

objection and waived his voting right fail to 

reach an agreement on the price of Shares 

repurchase within 60 days upon the 

resolution date of the general meeting, the 

Company shall, within 30 days upon the 

lapse of such 60-day period, file a motion 

with the Taiwan Taipei District Court, in 

which all selling Members who disagree 

with the repurchase price are listed as 

respondents, to issue a ruling on the 

repurchase price. 

The number of shares held by the selling 

Member who has waived his voting right 

shall not be counted toward the number of 

votes represented by the shareholders 

present at a shareholders meeting. 

62 
The voting power exercising by way of 

electronic transmission shall be listed by 

the Company as one of the ways of 

exercising the voting power since 2016. In 

the event the general meeting is to be held 

outside Taiwan, the Company shall specify 

in the notice of the general meeting that the 

votes may be exercised in writing or by 

way of electronic voting transmission. In 

the event that the votes are exercised in 

writing, both the materials stipulated in 

Article 43(B) and the form of votes 

exercised in writing shall be sent to the 

Members. 

The voting power exercising by way of 

electronic transmission shall be listed by 

the Company as one of the ways of 

exercising the voting power since 2016. In 

the event the general meeting is to be held 

outside Taiwan, the Company shall specify 

in the notice of the general meeting that the 

votes may be exercised in writing or by way 

of electronic voting transmission. In the 

event that the votes are exercised in writing, 

both the materials stipulated in Article 

43(B) and the form of votes exercised in 

writing shall be sent to the Members. 

Amended in 

accordance with 

the “Check List 

of Shareholders’ 

Right Protection 

Matters at the 

Foreign Issuer’s 

Registered 

Country” 

100 
(A)A Director who has a personal interest 

in the matter under discussion at a Board 

(A)A Director who has a personal interest 

in the matter under discussion at a Board 

 



 

 

meeting shall disclose and explain to the 

Board at such Board meeting the essential 

contents of such personal interest. In the 

merger/consolidation and acquisition by 

the Company, the director who has a 

personal interest in the transaction of 

merger/consolidation and acquisition shall 

explain to the Board meeting and the 

general meeting the essential contents of 

such personal interest and the cause of 

approval or dissent to the resolution of 

merger /consolidation or acquisition. 

(B)Where the spouse, a blood relative 

within the second degree of kinship of a 

director, or any company which has a 

controlling or subordinate relation with a 

director has interests in the matters under 

discussion in the meeting of the preceding 

paragraph, such director shall be deemed to 

have a personal interest in the matter. 

(C)A Director who has personal interest in 

the matter under discussion at a Board 

meeting which may impair the interests of 

the Company shall refrain from voting on 

such matter in the Board meeting or 

exercising voting right on such matter by 

himself/herself or on behalf of another 

Director in the said Board meeting. The 

voting right of such Director who cannot 

vote or exercise any voting right as 

prescribed above shall not be counted in the 

number of votes of Directors present at the 

Board meeting. 

meeting shall disclose and explain to the 

Board at such Board meeting the essential 

contents of such personal interest. In the 

merger/consolidation and acquisition by 

the Company, the director who has a 

personal interest in the transaction of 

merger/consolidation and acquisition shall 

explain to the Board meeting and the 

general meeting the essential contents of 

such personal interest and the cause of 

approval or dissent to the resolution of 

merger /consolidation or acquisition. The 

Company shall also elaborate the essential 

contents of the Director's personal interest 

and the reason for approving or dissenting 

the resolution of the Acquisition in the 

reasons for convening this general meeting; 

such content shall be published on a 

website designated by the Taiwan 

securities competent authorities or the 

Company, and the URL of such website 

shall be specified on the general meeting 

notice. 

(B)Where the spouse, a blood relative 

within the second degree of kinship of a 

director, or any company which has a 

controlling or subordinate relation with a 

director has interests in the matters under 

discussion in the meeting of the preceding 

paragraph, such director shall be deemed to 

have a personal interest in the matter. 

(C)A Director who has personal interest in 

the matter under discussion at a Board 

meeting which may impair the interests of 

the Company shall refrain from voting on 

such matter in the Board meeting or 

exercising voting right on such matter by 

himself/herself or on behalf of another 



 

 

Director in the said Board meeting. The 

voting right of such Director who cannot 

vote or exercise any voting right as 

prescribed above shall not be counted in the 

number of votes of Directors present at the 

Board meeting. 

114 
Subject to the condition that the board of 

directors does not or is unable to convene a 

meeting of shareholders, the independent 

directors of the Audit Committee may, for 

the benefit of the Company, call a meeting 

of shareholders when it is deemed 

necessary. 

 (Deleted) Amended in 

accordance with 

Article 165-1 

and 14-4 of the 

Securities and 

Exchange Act 

122 
(A)The Company shall distribute no lower 

than 0.15% of profit of the current year as 

employees’ compensation, and no more 

than 2% of profit of the current year as 

directors’ remuneration. However, the 

company's accumulated losses shall have 

been covered. 

(A)The Company shall distribute no more 

than 1% of profit of the current year as 

employees’ compensation, and no more 

than 2% of profit of the current year as 

directors’ remuneration. However, the 

company's accumulated losses shall have 

been covered. 

This revision is 

to increase the 

flexibility of 

employee 

remuneration 

distribution. 

 

 

  



 

 

Attachment IX               

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Comparison table for revision of the Company’s “Rules of 

Procedure for Shareholders’ Meetings” 

Original Provisions Amended Articles 
Reason 

for 

revision 
Article 3, Paragraph 1 

Meeting agenda handbooks 

should be prepared for the 

convening of general 

shareholders meeting. Notices 

should be issued to shareholders 

thirty days in advance. Notices 

to shareholders with less than 

1,000 registered shares may be 

issued via announcements on 

Market Observation Post 

System thirty days in advance. 

Notices for the convening of 

extraordinary shareholders 

meeting should be issued fifteen 

days in advance. Notices to 

shareholders with less than 

1,000 registered shares may be 

issued via announcements on 

Market Observation Post 

System fifteen days in advance.  

The cause(s) or subject(s) of a 

general meeting to be convened 

shall be indicated in the 

individual notice and the public 

notice to be given to Members; 

and the notice may, as an 

alternative, be given by means 

Article 3, Paragraph 1 

Changes to the method of convening the shareholders' 

meeting shall be subject to a resolution by the Board of 

Directors and shall be made no later than before the 

notice of the shareholders' meeting is sent. 

The Company should prepare the notice of the 

shareholders' meeting, proxy forms, relevant proposals, 

explanations, matters regarding the election or dismissal 

of Directors and supervisors, and other matters for 

discussion thirty days prior to the annual shareholders' 

meeting or fifteen days prior to a special shareholders' 

meeting and transmit them in electronic format to the 

Public Information Observation System. Additionally, 

twenty-one days prior to the annual shareholders' 

meeting or fifteen days prior to a special shareholders' 

meeting, the Company should transmit in electronic 

files the shareholders' meeting manual and 

supplementary materials to the Public Information 

Observation Station. However, if the paid-in capital of 

the Company as of the end of the latest fiscal year 

exceeds NT$10 billion or the combined foreign and 

Chinese shareholder ownership percentage listed in the 

shareholder register exceeds thirty percent at the latest 

annual shareholders' meeting, the electronic 

transmission of the above-mentioned files should be 

completed thirty days prior to the annual shareholders' 

meeting. Fifteen days before the Company convenes a 

shareholders’ meeting, it shall prepare the shareholders’ 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

of electronic transmission, after 

obtaining the prior consent of 

the recipient(s) thereof. 

meeting agenda handbook and supplementary materials 

and make them available for the shareholders to obtain 

and review at any time. In addition, the handbook shall 

be displayed at the Company and its professional 

shareholder service agency. 

On the day of the shareholders' meeting, the agenda and 

supplementary materials should be made available to 

the shareholders in the following ways by the Company: 

I. When a physical shareholders’ meeting is convened, 

such materials shall be distributed on-site at the 

shareholders’ meeting. 

II. When holding a video-assisted shareholders' 

meeting, the materials should be distributed at the 

meeting venue and transmitted electronically to the 

video conference platform. 

III.When holding a virtual shareholder meeting, the 

relevant documents should be transmitted electronically 

to the virtual meeting platform. 
Addition Article 4, Paragraph 4 

If a shareholder who has submitted a power of attorney 

form to the Company wishes to attend the shareholder 

meeting via video conferencing, they should submit a 

written notice to the Company to revoke the proxy agent 

at least two days before the meeting. If the revocation is 

made after the deadline, the voting rights exercised by 

the proxy agent appointed by the shareholder will be 

deemed valid. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Article 5 

The Shareholders' Meeting shall 

be held at the head office of the 

Company or at any other 

appropriate place that is 

convenient for the shareholders 

to attend. The time for 

commencing the said meeting 

shall not be earlier than 9 

o'clock in the morning or later 

than 3 o'clock local time in the 

Article 5 

The Shareholders' Meeting shall be held at the head 

office of the Company or at any other appropriate place 

that is convenient for the shareholders to attend. The 

time for commencing the said meeting shall not be 

earlier than 9 o'clock in the morning or later than 3 

o'clock local time in the afternoon, and the opinions of 

Independent Directors shall be soundly considered. 

When the Company convenes a shareholders’ meeting 

by video conference, it is not subject to the restriction 

on the venue of the meeting under the preceding 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

afternoon, and the opinions of 

Independent Directors shall be 

soundly considered. 

paragraph. 

Article 6, Paragraph 1 

The Company should set up a 

signature book for shareholders 

or their authorized 

representatives (hereinafter 

referred to as "Shareholders") to 

sign in, or collect a sign-in card 

from the attending Shareholders 

as an alternative. 

Article 6, Paragraph 1 

The Company should set up a signature book for 

shareholders or their authorized representatives 

(hereinafter referred to as "Shareholders") to sign in, or 

collect a sign-in card from the attending Shareholders as 

an alternative. The shareholder attending the video 

conferences should complete sign-in on the shareholder 

video conference platform 30 minutes before the 

meeting begins. Shareholders who have completed sign-

ins are deemed to have attended the shareholder meeting 

in person.   

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Addition Article 6, Paragraph 5 

If the shareholders' meeting is convened by video 

conference, shareholders who wish to attend by video 

conference should register with the Company two days 

prior to the shareholders' meeting. For a shareholders’ 

meeting held via video conference, the Company should 

upload the agenda, annual reports, and other relevant 

information to the video conference platform for 

shareholders at least thirty minutes before the start of 

the meeting and continuously disclose it until the end of 

the meeting. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Addition Article 6, Paragraph 6 

When the Company convenes the shareholders' meeting 

by video conference, the information below shall be 

stated in the meeting notice: 

1. Methods for shareholders to participate in and 

exercise their rights in a video conference. 

2. The handling processes in case of a hindrance to the 

video conferencing platform or participation through 

video conferencing due to obstacles such as natural 

disasters, incidents, or other force majeure events, 

should include at least the following: 

(1) If the obstacles cannot be resolved before the 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

conference and the conference needs to be postponed or 

continued at a later date, the date and time for the 

rescheduled meeting should be announced. 

(2) Shareholders who did not register to participate in 

the original video conference are not allowed to 

participate in the postponed or continued meeting. 

(3) In the case of a video-assisted shareholders' meeting, 

if the video conference cannot continue, the attendance 

of shareholders who participated in the meeting through 

the video conference should be deducted, and if the total 

shareholding attending the meeting reaches the statutory 

quota for holding the shareholders' meeting, the meeting 

should continue. Shareholders who participate in the 

meeting through the video conference should have their 

attendance counted towards the total number of 

shareholders attending the meeting. For all the 

resolutions of the meeting, it should be deemed that they 

have waived their voting rights. 

(4) If all resolutions have been announced with results, 

and no Extraordinary Motions have been made, the 

processing method for this scenario should be 

determined. 

3. When convening a video shareholders' meeting, 

appropriate alternative measures for shareholders who 

have difficulties in participating in the meeting through 

video should be provided. 
Article 8 

The Company shall make an 

uninterrupted audio and video 

recording of the entire 

Shareholders' Meeting, and the 

recorded materials shall be 

retained for at least one year. If, 

however, a shareholder files a 

lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 

of the Company Act, the 

recording shall be retained until 

the conclusion of the litigation. 

Article 8 

The Company shall make an uninterrupted audio and 

video recording of the entire Shareholders' Meeting, and 

the recorded materials shall be retained for at least one 

year. If, however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant 

to Article 189 of the Company Act, the recording shall 

be retained until the conclusion of the litigation. 

If a shareholders' meeting is convened by video 

conference, the Company shall keep records of 

shareholders' registration, sign-in, questions raised, as 

well as voting and the Company’s vote counting results 

and retain the records, while making an uninterrupted 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

audio and video recording of the entire video 

conference. 

The above-mentioned materials and audio and video 

recordings shall be properly kept by the Company 

during the period of its existence, and the audio and 

video recordings shall be provided to those who are 

entrusted to handle the video conference affairs for 

storage. 

For virtual shareholder meetings, it is advised that the 

Company record the audio and video of the backend 

operations interface of the virtual meeting platform. 
Article 9, Paragraph 1 

Attendance at shareholders’ 

meetings shall be counted based 

on numbers of shares. The 

number of shares in attendance 

shall be calculated according to 

the shares indicated by the 

attendance book and sign-in 

cards handed in plus the number 

of shares whose voting rights 

are exercised by 

correspondence or 

electronically. 

Article 9, Paragraph 1 

Attendance at shareholders’ meetings shall be counted 

based on numbers of shares. The number of attending 

shares should be calculated based on the signature book, 

the sign-in cards submitted, and the number of 

shareholders who have reported their attendance on the 

video conference platform. The number should also 

include the shares that exercised voting rights through 

written or electronic means. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Article 9, Paragraph 2 

At the date of the meeting, if 

after two adjournments, still 

less than one-third of the total 

issued shares are represented by 

the shareholders present, the 

meeting should be adjourned by 

the chairperson. 

Article 9, Paragraph 2 

At the date of the meeting, if after two adjournments, 

still less than one-third of the total issued shares are 

represented by the shareholders present, the meeting 

should be adjourned by the chairperson. In case the 

shareholders' meeting is held through video 

conferencing, the Company should also announce the 

adjournment of the meeting on the video conferencing 

platform. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Article 9, Paragraph 3 

When the above-mentioned 

situation occurs, i.e., two 

adjournments have been made 

and less than one-third of the 

Article 9, Paragraph 3 

When the above-mentioned situation occurs, i.e., two 

adjournments have been made and less than one-third of 

the total issued shares are represented by the 

shareholders present, the Company may make a 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

total issued shares are 

represented by the shareholders 

present, the Company may 

make a tentative resolution in 

accordance with Article 175, 

Paragraph 1 of the Company 

Act and notify all shareholders 

of the tentative resolution 

within one month to convene 

another shareholders' meeting. 

tentative resolution in accordance with Article 175, 

Paragraph 1 of the Company Act and notify all 

shareholders of the tentative resolution within one 

month to convene another shareholders' meeting. If the 

shareholder’s meeting is held through a video 

conference, shareholders who wish to attend through 

video conferencing should re-register with the 

Company in accordance with Article 6. 

Addition Article 9, Paragraph 7 

For a virtual shareholder meeting, shareholders who 

participate via video conferencing may submit 

questions in writing through the platform. Each 

shareholder may ask up to two questions per resolution, 

limited to 200 words per question, from the time the 

meeting is called to order until it is adjourned. This is 

not subject to the regulations in Articles 1-5. 

If the questions asked do not violate any regulations or 

exceed the scope of the resolution, they should be 

disclosed on the video conference platform for the 

knowledge of all shareholders. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Article 13, Paragraph 4 

After shareholders exercise 

their voting rights by written or 

electronic means, if they wish to 

attend the shareholders' meeting 

in person, they should notify the 

company two days prior to the 

meeting... 

Article 13, Paragraph 4 

After shareholders exercise their voting rights by 

written or electronic means, if they wish to attend the 

shareholders' meeting in person or by video conference, 

they should notify the company two days prior to the 

meeting… 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

Addition Article 13, Paragraph 10 

For a virtual shareholder meeting held by the Company, 

shareholders participating via video conference should 

vote on each resolution and election proposal through 

the video conferencing platform after the meeting is 

called to order by the chairman, and they should 

complete their voting before the chairman announces 

the end of the voting period. Any vote cast after the 

deadline will be deemed invalid. 

  For meetings held via video conference, the 

chairman should announce the results of the cumulative 

voting and election results after the voting is closed. 

    If a shareholders’ meeting is convened, along with 

a video conference held at the same time, shareholders 

who have registered to attend the shareholders' meeting 

by video conference in accordance with Article 6, intend 

to attend the physical shareholders' meeting in person, 

shall rescind the registration in the same manner as the 

registration two days before the shareholders' meeting, 

otherwise they can only attend the shareholders' meeting 

by video conference. 

  Those who exercise their voting rights in writing 

or by electronic means without retracting their 

declaration of intention and participate in the 

shareholders' meeting by video conference shall not 

exercise their voting rights on the same motions, 

propose amendment to the same motions, or exercise 

their voting rights for revised motions, except for 

Extraordinary Motion. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Addition Article 15, Paragraph 5 

In the case of a shareholder meeting held via video 

conference, the minutes of the meeting should include 

the items required to be recorded as stipulated in the 

preceding provision, and also the start and end time of 

the meeting, the method of convening the meeting, the 

names of the chairman and the record keeper, as well as 

the handling processes and situations when the video 

conference platform or the video participation 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

encounters obstacles due to natural disasters, incidents, 

or other force majeure events. 

When a shareholders' meeting is convened by video 

conference, the Company shall proceed as per the 

preceding paragraph and shall specify the alternative 

measures provided to shareholders who have difficulty 

participating in the video conference in the minutes of 

the shareholders' meeting. 
Article 16, Paragraph 1 

The number of shares solicited 

by the solicitor and the number 

of shares represented by the 

proxy agents should be 

compiled in a statistical table in 

the prescribed format and 

displayed clearly at the meeting 

venue on the day of the 

shareholders' meeting. 

 

Article 16, Paragraph 1 

The number of shares solicited by the solicitor and the 

number of shares represented by the proxy agents 

should be compiled in a statistical table in the prescribed 

format and displayed clearly at the meeting venue on the 

day of the shareholders' meeting, along with the number 

of shares represented by shareholders attending the 

meeting in writing or electronically. For a shareholders’ 

meeting held via video conference, the Company should 

upload the aforementioned information to the video 

conference platform for shareholders at least thirty 

minutes before the start of the meeting and continuously 

disclose it until the end of the meeting. 

At the beginning of the virtual shareholders' meeting, 

the Company should disclose the total number of shares 

represented by attending shareholders on the video 

conferencing platform. The same shall apply if the total 

number of shares and voting rights in attendance are 

counted during the meeting. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Addition Article 19 

Information Disclosure for Video Conferences 

For a shareholder meeting held via video conference, 

the Company should promptly disclose the results of the 

voting on each proposal and the election results in 

accordance with regulations on the video conference 

platform of the shareholder meeting after the voting is 

concluded. The Company should continue to disclose 

the results for at least fifteen minutes after the chairman 

announces the adjournment of the meeting. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

Addition Article 20 

Location of Chairman and Recorder for Virtual 

Shareholders Meeting 

When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders' 

meeting, the chairman and the recorder should be 

located in the same place in the country, and the 

chairman should announce the address of the location at 

the beginning of the meeting. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Addition Article 21 

Handling of Disruptions 

When a shareholders' meeting is convened by video 

conference, the Company may allow shareholders to 

perform a simple test of the connection before the 

meeting commences and provide relevant services 

immediately before and during the meeting to assist 

with any technical communication problems. 

When a shareholder meeting is held via video 

conference, the chairman should announce at the 

beginning of the meeting, except for the situation where 

it is unnecessary to postpone or continue the meeting as 

stipulated in Article 44-20, Paragraph 4 of the 

Regulations Governing the Administration of 

Shareholder Services of Public Companies, that in the 

event of natural disasters, incidents, or other force 

majeure events that disrupt the video conferencing 

platform or participation via video conferencing for 

more than thirty minutes, the date of the adjourned or 

continued meeting should be set within five days, and 

the provisions of Article 182 of the Company Act should 

not apply. 

In the event of any incident in the preceding paragraph 

that caused the meeting to be postponed or resumed, 

shareholders who have not registered to participate in 

the original shareholders' meeting by video conference 

shall not participate in the meeting postponed or 

resumed. 

For the meeting to be postponed or resumed under 

paragraph 2, shareholders who have registered to 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 



 

 

participate in the original shareholders’ meeting by 

video conference and have completed the registration 

but fail to participate in said meeting, the number of 

shares in attendance and the voting rights and voting 

rights for elections exercised at the original 

shareholders’ meeting shall be included in the total 

number of attending shareholders’ shares, voting rights, 

and voting rights for elections at the meeting postponed 

or resumed. 

According to the second provision, when handling the 

adjournment or continuation of a shareholders’ meeting 

in accordance with the regulations, for proposals for 

which voting and vote counting have been completed, 

and the voting results or lists of elected Directors or 

supervisors have been announced, there is no need to re-

discuss and make resolutions. 

When the Company convenes a shareholder’s meeting, 

supplemented by a video conference, if the video 

conference cannot continue as under paragraph 2, after 

the number of shares in attendance through the video 

conference is deducted, the total number of shares in 

attendance at the physical shareholders’ meeting reaches 

the number as required by law, the shareholders’ 

meeting shall continue. There is no need to postpone or 

resume the meeting in accordance with paragraph 2. 

When the meeting shall continue as in the preceding 

paragraph, for shareholders participating by video 

conference, the number of their shares shall be included 

in the total number of shares in attendance; however, 

they shall be deemed to abstain for all motions resolved 

at the shareholders' meeting. 

When postponing or resuming a meeting according to 

the second paragraph, the Company shall handle the 

preparatory work based on the date of the original 

shareholders meeting in accordance with the 

requirements listed under Article 44-20, paragraph 7 of 

the Regulations Governing the Administration of 

Shareholder Services of Public Companies. 



 

 

For dates or period set forth under Article 12, second 

half, and Article 13, paragraph 3 of Regulations 

Governing the Use of Proxies for Attendance at 

Shareholder Meetings of Public Companies, and Article 

44-5, paragraph 2, Article 44-15, and Article 44-17, 

paragraph 1 of the Regulations Governing the 

Administration of Shareholder Services of Public 

Companies, the Companys hall handle the matter based 

on the date of the shareholders meeting that is postponed 

or resumed under the second paragraph. 
Addition Article 22 

Handling of Digital Divide 

When a shareholders’ meeting is to be convened by 

video conference, appropriate alternatives to 

shareholders who have difficulty participating in the 

meeting by video means shall be provided. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 

Article 19 

These Rules shall be effective 

from the date it is approved by 

the Shareholders' Meeting. The 

same applies in case of revision. 

Article 23  

These Rules shall be effective from the date it is 

approved by the Shareholders' Meeting. The same 

applies in case of revision. 

Revisions 

made in 

line with 

ordinances 
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THE COMPANIES LAW(AS AMENDED) 

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATlON 

OF 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED 

(Amended by Special Resolution Passed on MAY 28, 2020) 

1. The name of the Company is Sunjuice Holdings Co., Limited (the “Company”). 

2. The Registered Office of the Company will be situated at the offices of TMF (Cayman) Ltd, 2nd Floor, The 
Grand Pavilion Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, P.O. Box 10338, Grand Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman 
Islands or at such other location as the Directors may from time to time determine.  

3. The objects for which the Company is established are unrestricted and the Company shall have full power and 
authority to carry out any object not prohibited by any law as provided by Section 7(4) of the Companies 
Law (as amended). 

4. The Company shall have and be capable of exercising all the functions of a natural person of full capacity 
irrespective of any question of corporate benefit as provided by Section 27(2) of the Companies Law (as 
amended). 

5. Nothing in the preceding sections shall be deemed to permit the Company to carry on the business of a Bank 
or Trust Company without being licensed in that behalf under the provisions of the Banks & Trust Companies 
Law (as amended), or to carry on Insurance Business from within the Cayman Islands or the business of an 
Insurance Manager, Agent, Sub-agent or Broker without being licensed in that behalf under the provisions of 
the Insurance Law (as amended), or to carry on the business of Company Management without being licensed 
in that behalf under the provisions of the Companies Management Law (as amended). 

6. The Company will not trade in the Cayman Islands with any person, firm or corporation except in furtherance 
of the business of the Company carried on outside the Cayman Islands. provided that nothing in this section 
shall be construed as to prevent the Company effecting and concluding contracts in the Cayman Islands, and 
exercising in the Cayman Islands all of its powers necessary for the carrying on of its business outside the 
Cayman Islands. 

7. The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares respectively held by them. 

8. The capital of the Company is NT$600,000,000 divided into 60,000,000 shares of a nominal or par value of 
NT$10.00 each provided always that subject to the provisions of the Companies Law (as amended) and the 
Articles of Association the Company shall have power to redeem or purchase any of its shares and to sub-
divide or consolidate the said shares or any of them and to issue all or any part of its capital whether original, 
redeemed, increased or reduced with or without any preference, priority or special privilege or subject to any 
postponement of rights or to any conditions or restrictions whatsoever and so that unless the conditions of 
issue shall otherwise expressly provide every issue of shares whether stated to be Ordinary, Preference or 
otherwise shall be subject to the powers on the part of the Company hereinbefore provided. 

9. The Company may exercise the power contained in Section 206 of the Companies Law (as amended) to 
deregister in the Cayman Islands and be registered by way of continuation in some other jurisdiction. 
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THE COMPANIES LAW (AS AMENDED) 

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

OF 

SUNJUICE HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED 

(Amended by Special Resolution Passed on MAY 28, 2020) 

TABLE A 

The Regulations contained or incorporated in Table 'A' in the First Schedule of the Companies Law (as amended) shall not 
apply to this Company and the following Articles shall comprise the Articles of Association of the Company: 

INTERPRETATION 

1. In these Articles the following defined terms will have the meanings ascribed to them, if not inconsistent with the subject 
or context: 

"Affiliated Company" means with respect to any company, any other company that directly, or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first company; 

"Applicable Listing Rules" means the relevant laws, regulations, rules and code as amended, from time to time, 
applicable as a result of the original and continued trading or listing of any shares on the TSE or the GreTai Securities 
Market, the Emerging Stocks Market of the GreTai Securities Market, including, without limitation the relevant 
provisions of Company Act, Business Merger And Acquisition Act, Securities and Exchange Act, the Acts Governing 
Relations Between Peoples of the Taiwan Area and the Mainland Area, or any similar statute and the rules and 
regulations of the Taiwan authorities thereunder, and the rules and regulations promulgated by the Financial Supervisory 
Commission, the GreTai Securities Market or the TSE; 

"Articles" means these articles of association of the Company, as amended or substituted from time to time; 

"Audit Committee" means an Audit Committee as defined in these Articles and the Applicable Listing Rules; 

“Chairman” has the meaning given thereto in Article 79; 

"Class" or "Classes" means any class or classes of Shares as may from time to time be issued by the Company; 

"Commission" means Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan; 

"Companies Law" or “Law” means the Companies Law (as amended) of the Cayman Islands; 

"Constituent Company" means an existing company that is participating in a Merger with one or more other existing 
companies within the meaning of the Law; 

“Depository” means Taiwan Depository & Clearing Corporation; 

"Directors" and "Board of Directors" and “Board” means the directors of the Company for the time being, or as the 
case may be the Directors assembled as a Board or as a committee thereof;  

“Director and Officer Insurance” has the meaning given thereto in Article 148; 

"electronic" shall have the meaning given to it in the Electronic Transactions Law (as amended) of the Cayman Islands 
and any amendment thereto or re-enactments thereof for the time being in force and includes every other law 
incorporated therewith or substituted therefore; 

"electronic communication" means transmission to any number, address or internet website or other electronic delivery 
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methods as otherwise decided and approved by not less than two-thirds of the vote of the Board; 

"Emerging Market" means the emerging market board of GreTai Securities Market in Taiwan; 

"GreTai Securities Market" means the GreTai Securities Market in Taiwan; 

“Indemnified Person” has the meaning given thereto in Article 147; 

"Independent Director" means a director who is an independent director as defined in the Applicable Listing Rules; 

"Member" means a person whose name is entered in the Register of Members and includes each subscriber to the 
Memorandum of Association pending the issue to him/her of the subscriber share or shares; 

"Members’ Service Agent" means the agent licensed by Taiwan authorities to provide certain Members services in 
accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules to the Company; 

“Memorandum of Association” means the memorandum of association of the Company as amended or substituted 
from time to time. 

"Merger" means the merging of two or more Constituent Companies and the vesting of their undertaking, property and 
liabilities in one of such company as the Surviving Company within the meaning of the Law; 

"Office" means the registered office of the Company as required by the Law; 

"Ordinary Resolution" means a resolution passed by a simple majority of such Members as, being entitled to do so, 
vote in person or, where proxies are allowed, by proxy at a general meeting of the Company and where a poll is taken 
regard shall be had in computing a majority to the number of votes to which each Member is entitled;  

"paid up" means paid up as to the par value and any premium payable in respect of the issue of any shares and includes 
credited as paid up; 

“preferred Shares” has the meaning given thereto in Article 8; 

“Realized Capital Reserve” and “Capital Reserve” means the realized capital reserve and the  capital reserve as 
defined in the Applicable Listing Rules; 

"Register" or "Register of Members" means the register to be kept by the Company in accordance with the Companies 
Law; 

"Republic of China" or "Taiwan" means the Republic of China, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to 
its jurisdiction; 

“Retained Earnings” means all legal or special reserves of the earnings and the undistributed earnings, while excluding 
those has been resolved by the Board or the general meeting to be distributed to the Members; 

"Seal" means the Common Seal of the Company (if adopted) Including any facsimile thereof; 

"Share" means any share in the capital of the Company including a fraction of any share. All references to "Shares" 
herein shall be deemed to be Shares of any or all Classes as the context may require; 

"Share Premium Account" means the share premium account established in accordance with these Articles, the Law 
and the Applicable Listing Rules; 

"signed' includes a signature or representation of a signature affixed by mechanical means; 

“Special Resolution” means a special resolution of the Company passed in accordance with the Law, being a resolution 
passed by a majority of at least two-thirds of such Members as, being entitled to do so, vote in person or, where proxies 
are allowed, by proxy at a general meeting of the Company of which notice specifying the intention to propose the 
resolution as a special resolution has been duly given; 

"Special Resolution (Taiwan)" means (A) a resolution passed by Members, as being entitled to do so, vote in person 
or, where proxies are allowed, by proxy at a general meeting, such Members holding not less than half of the Shares 
held by all Members attending that meeting, and such meeting is attended by Members holding not less than two-thirds 
of all issued Shares of the Company; or (B) where the Members attending to the general meeting are holding less than 
two-thirds of all issued Shares of the Company entitled to vote, a resolution passed by Members, as being entitled to do 
so, vote in person or, where proxies are allowed, by proxy at a general meeting, such Members holding not less than 
two-thirds of the Shares held by all Members attending that meeting, and such meeting is attended by Members holding 
not less than half of all issued Shares of the Company; 
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"Spin-off" refers to an act wherein a transferor company transfers all of its independently operated business or any 
single independently operated business to an existing or a newly incorporated company as consideration for that existing 
transferee company or newly incorporated transferee company to issue new Shares or to transfer cash or other properties 
to the transferor company or to members of the transferor company; 

"Surviving Company" means the sole remaining Constituent Company into which one or more other Constituent 
Companies are merged within the meaning of the Law and the Applicable Listing Rules;  

“Treasury Shares” means the Share(s) repurchased by the Company, which has the meaning given thereto in Article 
30; and 

“TSE” means the Taiwan Stock Exchange.  

2. In these Articles. save where the context requires otherwise; 

(a) words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa; 

(b) words importing the masculine gender only shall include the feminine gender; 

(c) words importing persons only shall include companies or associations or bodies of persons, whether corporate or 
not; 

(d) "may" shall be construed as permissive and "shall" shall be construed as imperative; 

(e) references to a "dollar" or "dollars" or $ is a reference to dollars of the United States; and 

(f) references to a statutory enactment shall include reference to any amendment or re-enactment thereof for the time 
being in force. 

3. Subject to the last two preceding Articles, any words defined in the Companies Law or the Applicable Listing Rules 
shall, if not inconsistent with the subject or context, bear the same meaning in these Articles. 

PRELIMINARY 

4. (A) The business of the Company may be commenced as soon after incorporation. 

(B) When conducting its business, the Company will comply with the laws and regulations as well as business ethics 
and may take actions which will promote public interests in order to fulfill its social responsibilities. 

5. The Office shall be at such address in the Cayman Islands as the Directors shall from time to time determine. The 
Company may in addition establish and maintain such other offices and places of business and agencies in such places 
as the Directors may from time to time determine. 

SHARES 

6. Subject as otherwise provided in these Articles, all Shares for the time being and from time to time unissued shall be 
under the control of the Directors, and may be re-designated, allotted or disposed of in such manner, to such persons and 
on such terms as the Directors in their absolute discretion may think fit. 

6-1. (A) The Company shall not issue bearer shares. 

(B) The Company choosing to issue no par value shares shall not convert its shares into par value shares. 

7. Unless otherwise provided in these Articles, the Directors may authorize the division of Shares into any number of 
Classes and the different Classes shall be authorized, established and designated (or re-designated as the case may be) 
and the variations in the relative rights (including, without limitation, voting, dividend and redemption rights), 
restrictions, preferences, privileges and payment obligations as between the different Classes (if any) shall be fixed and 
determined by the Directors. 

8. The Company may issue Shares with rights which are preferential to those of ordinary Shares issued by the Company 
(“preferred Shares”) with the approval of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting attended by two-thirds or more 
of the total number of the Directors. Prior to the issuance of any preferred Shares approved pursuant to this Article, this 
Memorandum of Association and these Articles shall be amended to set forth the rights and obligations of the preferred 
Shares, including but not limited to the following terms, and the same shall apply to any variation of rights of preferred 
Shares:   
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(a) the total number of the issued preferred Shares and the total number of the preferred Shares the Company is 
authorized to issue; 

(b) order, fixed amount or fixed ratio of allocation of dividends and bonus on preferred Shares; 

(c) order, fixed amount or fixed ratio of allocation of surplus assets of the Company; 

(d) order of or restriction on the voting right(s) (including declaring no voting rights whatsoever) of preferred Members; 

(e) the conditions, deadline of redemption or repurchase, and the type and the amount of payment for redemption or 
repurchase made by the Company; 

(f) other matters concerning rights and obligations incidental to preferred Shares; and 

(g) the method by which the Company is authorized or compelled to redeem the preferred Shares, or a statement that 
redemption rights shall not apply. 

9. The issue of new Shares of the Company shall be approved by a majority of the Directors present at a meeting attended 
by two-thirds or more of the total number of the Directors. The issue of new Shares shall at all times be subject to the 
sufficiency of the authorized capital of the Company.  The Company may not issue Share certificates to Members in 
respect of any Shares. However, for as long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai 
Securities Market or TSE, the Company shall not issue Share certificates and upon each issuance of new Shares, the 
Company shall within 30 days from the completion date of issuance of such Shares cause its Members’ Service Agent 
to enter the name of the Member in the Register and to effect the book-entry transfer in the Member's account with the 
Depository. The Company shall make a public announcement in accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules prior to 
the book-entry transfer. 

10. The Company shall not issue any unpaid Shares or partly paid-up Shares. The Company shall not issue Shares in bearer 
form. 

11. Upon each issuance of new Shares, the Directors may reserve a specified percentage of the new Shares for subscription 
by the employees of the Company who are determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion. 

12. For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, unless 
otherwise resolved by the Members in general meeting by Ordinary Resolution, if at any time the Board resolves to 
issue any new Share, the Company shall, after reserving the portion of Shares for subscription by its employees and for 
public offering in Taiwan pursuant to Article 11 and Article 14 respectively, advise each then Member by a public 
announcement and by a written notice to subscribe for the remaining new Shares with preemptive right, in proportion 
respectively to their original shareholding.  Except for the payment period for subscription of new shares stated in the 
notice is not less than one month, if the then Member delays payment for shares, the Company shall fix a period of not 
less than one month and call upon such subscribers to pay up, declaring that in case of default of payment within the 
stipulated period their right shall be forfeited.  After the Company has made the aforesaid call, the subscribers who fail 
to pay accordingly shall forfeit their rights and the shares subscribed to by them shall be otherwise sold.  Under the 
aforesaid circumstances, compensation for loss or damage, if any, may still be claimed against such defaulting 
subscribers.  Where a fractional percentage of the original Shares being held by a Member is insufficient to subscribe 
for one new Share, the fractional percentages of the original Shares being held by several Members may be combined 
for joint subscription of one or more integral new Shares or for subscription of new Shares in the name of a single 
Member. New shares left unsubscribed by such Members may be open for public issuance or for subscription by specific 
person or persons through negotiation. 

13. The Members’ preemptive right prescribed under Article 12 shall not apply in the event that new Shares are issued due 
to the following reasons or for the following purpose:  

(a) in connection with a Merger with another company, or the Spin-off of the Company, or pursuant to any 
reorganization of the Company;  

(b) in connection with meeting the Company’s obligation under Share subscription warrants and/or options; 

(c) in connection with meeting the Company’s obligation under corporate bonds which are convertible bonds or vested 
with rights to acquire Shares;  

(d) in connection with meeting the Company’s obligation under preferred Shares vested with rights to acquire Shares 
or with a redemption of Shares by the Company; or 

(e) any other conditions excluded by the Applicable Listing Rules. 
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14. Where the Company increases its capital by issuing new Shares in Taiwan, the Company shall allocate 10 percent of the 
total amount of the new Shares to be issued, for offering in Taiwan to the public unless it is not necessary or appropriate, 
according to the Applicable Listing Rules, for the Company to conduct the aforementioned public offering. Provided 
however, if a percentage higher than the aforementioned 10 percent is resolved by a general meeting to be offered, the 
percentage determined by such resolution shall prevail. 

14A.The Company may, with the sanction of a Special Resolution (Taiwan), carry out private placement of securities to the 
following persons in Taiwan : 

(a) Banks, bills finance enterprises, trust enterprises, insurance enterprises, securities enterprises, or other juristic 
persons or institutions approved by the competent authority governing securities in Taiwan. 

(b) Natural persons, juristic persons, or funds meeting the conditions prescribed by the competent authority governing 
securities in Taiwan. 

(c) Directors and managerial officers of the Company or its Affiliated Companies. 

Where the private placement of securities are conducted according to the preceding paragraph and the relevant 
particulars have been specified and described during the meeting of Members, the private placement may be carried out 
in installments within one year from the date of the said resolution of the meeting of Members. 

15. (A)The Company may, upon resolution by a majority votes at a meeting of the Board of Directors attended by two-thirds 
or more of the Directors, adopt one or more employee incentive programmes pursuant to which Shares, options, warrants, 
or other similar instruments to acquire Shares may be granted to employees of the Company or any Affiliated Company 
to subscribe for Shares. The Shares, options, warrants, or other similar instruments to acquire Shares granted to any 
employee under any employee stock option plan shall be non-transferable, except to the heirs of the employees. 

(B)The Company may issue restricted Shares to employees by the Special Resolution (Taiwan). The issuance amount, 
issuance prices, issuance conditions and other matters which shall be complied with shall be subject to the Applicable 
Listing Rules.   

VARIATION OF RIGHTS ATTACHING TO SHARES 

16. If at any time the capital is divided into different classes of Shares, the rights attaching to any class (unless otherwise 
provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class) may be varied or abrogated with the consent of the holders of 
two-thirds of the issued Shares of that class. Unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class, 
to every such separate general meeting the provisions of these Articles relating to general meetings of the Company 
shall mutatis mutandis apply. 

17. The rights conferred upon the holders of the Shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless 
otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class, be deemed to be varied or abrogated by 
the creation or issue of further Shares ranking pari passu with or subsequent to them or the redemption or repurchase of 
Shares of any class by the Company. 

CERTIFICATES 

18. The Register of Members shall be prima facie evidence of the entitlement of a person to Shares recorded against his/her 
name. Subject to the approval of the Board and subject as otherwise provided in these Articles, Share certificates may 
be issued to a Member upon request. Every Share certificate shall be issued under the Seal or a facsimile thereof and 
shall specify the name of the Member, the number and class and distinguishing numbers (if any or if required by the 
Companies Law or Applicable Listing Rules) of the Shares to which it relates, and the amount paid up thereon and may 
otherwise be in such form as the Directors may from time to time determine. No certificate shall be issued representing 
Shares of more than one class nor will be issued in bearer form. The Board may by resolution determine, either generally 
or in any particular case or cases, that any signatures on any such certificates (or certificates in respect of other securities) 
need not be autographic but may be affixed to such certificates by some mechanical means or may be printed thereon. 

 

TRANSFER OF SHARES 

19. Subject to the Companies Law, the Applicable Listing Rules, and Articles 32 and 33, Shares issued by the Company 
shall be freely transferable, provided that any newly issued Shares reserved for subscription by the employees of the 
Company according to Article 11 and any Treasury Shares transferred to the employees of the Company may be subject 
to transfer restrictions for a period of not more than two years. Title to Shares which are listed on the GreTai Securities 
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Market or the TSE may be evidenced and transferred in accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules. The transferor 
shall be deemed to remain the holder of the Share until the name of the transferee is entered in the Register in respect 
thereof. 

20. The instrument of transfer of any Share shall be in any usual or common form or such other form as the Directors may, 
in their absolute discretion, approve and be executed by or on behalf of the transferor and if so required by the Directors, 
shall also be executed on behalf of the transferee, shall be accompanied by the certificate (if any) of the Shares to which 
it relates and such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the 
transfer. The transferor shall be deemed to remain a holder of the Share until the name of the transferee is entered in the 
Register of Members in respect thereof.  

21. The Directors may in their absolute discretion decline to register any transfer of Shares unless: 

(a) the instrument of transfer is lodged with the Company, accompanied by the certificate (if any) for the Shares to 
which it relates and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to 
make the transfer; 

(b) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of Shares; or 

(c) the instrument of transfer is properly stamped, if required. 

22. The registration of transfers may be suspended when the Register of Members is closed in accordance with Article 37. 

23. All instruments of transfer which are registered shall be retained by the Company, but any instrument of transfer which 
the Directors decline to register shall (except in any case of fraud) be returned to the person depositing the same. 

 

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 

24. The legal personal representative of a deceased sole holder of a Share shall be the only person recognised by the 
Company as having any title to the Share. In the case of a Share registered in the name of two or more holders, the 
survivors or survivor, or the legal personal representatives of the deceased survivor, shall be the only person recognised 
by the Company as having any title to the Share. 

25. Any person becoming entitled to a Share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a Member shall upon such 
evidence being produced as may from time to time be required by the Directors, have the right either to be registered as 
a Member in respect of the Share or, instead of being registered himself/herself, to make such transfer of the Share as 
the deceased or bankrupt person could have made. In case the aforementioned person decides to be registered as a 
Member, he/she shall deliver or send a notice in writing to the Company, on which the signature shall be made and 
his/her decision shall also be stipulated. But the Directors shall, in either case have the right to decline or suspend 
registration in accordance with Article 21. 

26. A person becoming entitled to a Share by reason of the death or bankruptcy of the holder shall be entitled to the same 
dividends and other advantages to which he/she would be entitled if he/she were the registered holder of the Share, 
except that he/she shall not, before being registered as a Member in respect of the Share, be entitled in respect of it to 
exercise any right conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company. 

 

ALTERATION OF CAPITAL 

27. The Company may from time to time by Special Resolution (Taiwan) increase the authorized share capital by such sum, 
to be divided into Shares of such classes and amount, as the resolution shall prescribe. 

28. (A) The Company may by Special Resolution reduce its capital and any capital redemption reserve in any manner 
authorized by the Companies Law or Applicable Listing Rules. Subject to the Companies Law or the Applicable Listing 
Rules, capital shall be reduced pro rata in accordance with each Member’s shareholding percentage.  

(B) The Company may reduce its share capital by using property, in addition to cash, to return capital contributions; the 
returned property and the offsetable amount for the returned property shall be decided by Ordinary Resolution, and 
approved by the Member(s) receiving such property. 

(C) During the period when the Shares are traded on the Emerging Market, GreTia Securities Market, or TSE, the Board 
shall have the value of the returned property and the offsetable amount referred to in the preceding paragraph audited 
and certified by a certified public accountant in Taiwan prior to the general meeting. 
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REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES 

29. Subject to the Law, the Applicable Listing Rules and these Articles, the Company may issue Shares on terms that they 
are to be redeemed or are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company or the Member on such terms and in such 
manner as the Company may by Special Resolution (Taiwan), before the issue of such Shares, determine; provided that 
payment in respect of the redemption of its own Shares shall be made in a manner authorized by the Companies Law or 
Applicable Listing Rules, including out of its profits or the proceeds of a fresh issue of Shares. 

30. Subject to the Law, the Applicable Listing Rules and these Articles, and upon the approval of a majority of the Directors 
present at a Board meeting attended by two-thirds or more of Directors, the Company may repurchase its own Shares at 
the GreTai Securities Market or at TSE (the “Treasury Shares”). 

31. (A) The number of the Treasury Shares repurchased by the Company pursuant to the preceding Article 30 shall not 
exceed 10 percent of the total number of issued Shares of the Company. The total repurchase price of the Treasury Shares 
shall not exceed the sum of Retained Earnings plus the amount of the Share Premium Account plus the amount of the 
Realized Capital Reserve.  

(B) The Company shall be entered in the Register as the holder of the Treasury Shares provided that: the Company shall 
not be treated as a Member for any purpose and shall not exercise any right in respect of the Treasury Shares, and any 
purported exercise of such a right shall be void. 

(C) No dividend may be declared or paid, and no other distribution (whether in cash or otherwise) of the Company's 
assets (including any distribution of assets to Members on a winding up) may be declared or paid in respect of a Treasury 
Share. 

32. The transfer of Treasury Shares to the employees at the price less than the average price at which Treasury Shares were 
previously purchased by the Company shall be approved by the Special Resolution (Taiwan) of the Company at an 
upcoming general meeting prior to the transfer, and the following matters shall be specified and described in the notice 
of a general meeting, and shall not be proposed as ad hoc motions: 

(a) Transferring price, the discount rate, calculation basis and rationality. 

(b) The numbers of Treasury Shares to be transferred, purpose and rationality. 

(c) The qualification of the employees who are eligible to subscribe for the Shares and the numbers of the Shares for 
employees’ subscription.  

(d) The matters which may affect Members’ interests: 

甲、 the amounts which may be recognized as expenses and dilution of earnings per Share.  

乙、 the description of the Company’s financial burden arising from the transfer of Treasury Shares transferred to 
employees at a price less than the average price at which Treasury Shares were previously purchased by the 
Company.  

The total numbers of Shares transferred to employees approved at each general meeting shall not exceed 5 percent of 
the total issued Shares of the Company, and the total numbers of the Shares subscribed by each employee shall not 
exceed 0.5 percent of the total issued Shares of the Company. 

32A.(A)Notwithstanding Article 30 and subject to the Law, the Company may, with the sanction of an Ordinary Resolution, 
purchase and cancel its own Shares out of the share capital of the Company pro rata in accordance with each Member’s 
shareholding percentage.  The amount payable to the Shareholders in connection with a repurchase of Shares out of the 
share capital of the Company may be paid in cash or by way of delivery of assets in specie (i.e., non-cash).  The assets 
to be delivered and the amount of such substitutive share capital shall be approved by the Ordinary Resolution and shall 
be subject to consent by the Member receiving such asset. 

(B)The Board shall have the value of such asset and the amount of such substitutive share capital set forth in the 
preceding paragraph be audited and certified by a Taiwanese certified public accountant before the general meeting 
considering such repurchase. 

 

33. The Directors or managerial officers of the Company, or their spouse, minor children, or any other persons who hold the 
Shares for the benefit of the Directors, officers, their spouses or minor children, shall not sell or otherwise transfer their 
Shares during the period when the Company is repurchasing its own Shares. 
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34. The resolution for the redemption or repurchase of the Shares by the Company and the implementation thereof shall be 
reported at an upcoming general meeting no matter whether the Company redeems or repurchases the Shares so resolved. 

35. The redemption or repurchase of any Share shall not be deemed to give rise to the redemption or purchase of any other 
Share. 

36. Subject to the Law and the Applicable Listing Rules, the Directors may when making payments in respect of redemption 
or repurchase of Shares, if authorised by the terms of issue of the Shares being redeemed or repurchased or with the 
agreement of the holder of such Shares, make such payment either in cash or in specie. 

 

CLOSING REGISTER OF MEMBERS OR FIXING RECORD DATE 

37. For the purpose of determining those Members that are entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at any meeting of 
Members or any adjournment thereof, or those Members that are entitled to receive payment of any dividend, or in order 
to make a determination as to who is a Member for any other purpose, the Directors may provide that the Register of 
Members shall be closed for transfers for a stated period. For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market 
or listed in the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the Register of Members shall be so closed at least for a period of 60 
days, 30 days and 5 days immediately before the date of each annual general meeting, each extraordinary general 
meeting and the record date for the distribution of dividends and bonus or other interests respectively. The periods 
specified above shall commence from the day on which the meeting is to be held (inclusive) or from the record date for 
the distribution of dividends and bonus or other interests respectively (inclusive), as the case may be. 

38. In lieu of or apart from closing the Register of Members, the Directors may fix in advance a date as the record date for 
any such determination of those Members that are entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at a meeting of the Members 
and for the purpose of determining those Members that are entitled to receive payment of any dividend. In the event the 
Directors designate a record date in accordance with this Article, such record date shall be a date prior to the general 
meeting and the Directors shall immediately make a public announcement on the website designated by the Commission 
and the GreTai Securities Market or TSE pursuant to the Applicable Listing Rules. 

GENERAL MEETINGS 

39. All general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings. 

40. The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene a general meeting of the Company; provided that the Shares are 
registered in the Emerging Market or listed in the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the Company shall in each year hold 
a general meeting as its annual general meeting at least once, and such annual general meeting shall be held within 6 
months after close of each fiscal year and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it. 

41. At these meetings the report of the Board shall be presented. For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging 
Market or listed in the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, all general meetings shall be held at such time and place as 
may be determined by the Board in Taiwan. If the Directors resolve to hold a general meeting outside Taiwan, the 
Company shall apply for the approval of the GreTai Securities Market (or the TSE, if applicable) thereof within 2 days 
after the Board of Directors adopts such resolution or after the approval of relevant authorities for Members to convene 
the general meeting. Where a general meeting is to be held outside Taiwan, the Company shall engage a Members’ 
Services Agent to handle the administration of Member voting matters for such general meeting. 

42. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any Member or Members entitled to attend and 
vote at general meetings of the Company who hold not less than 3 percent of the paid up voting Share capital of the 
Company for a period of one year or a longer time deposited at the Office or the Members’ Service Agent specifying the 
objects of the meeting and requesting the Board to convene the general meeting, and if the Directors do not convene 
such meeting within 15 days after the date of such deposit, the requisitionists themselves may convene an extraordinary 
general meeting in accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules and may determine  such time and place of the 
extraordinary general meeting he/she thinks fit by sending out a notice of general meeting in accordance with these 
Articles. 

42-1. Shareholders continuously holding 50% or more of the total number of outstanding shares of the Company for a period 
of three months or a longer time may convene a special shareholders’ meeting. The calculation of the holding period 
and holding number of shares shall be based on the holding at the time of share transfer suspension date. 

NOTICE AND PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

43. (A)At least 30 and 15 days’ notices in writing shall be given for any annual and extraordinary general meetings, 
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respectively. The notice period shall be exclusive of the day on which it is given and of the day of the meeting. Every 
notice shall specify the place, the day and the time of the meeting and the general nature of the business. The notice for 
a general meeting may be given by means of electronic communication if the Company obtains prior consent by the 
individual recipients. 

(B)The Company shall make the announcement about the notice of the general meetings, proxy forms and the reasons 
and the descriptions related to proposals for approval, discussion and the election or discharge of Directors at least 30 
days and 15 days prior to any annual general meeting and extraordinary general meetings, respectively.    

44. The following matters shall be specified and described in the notice of a general meeting, and shall not be proposed as 
ad hoc motions; the essential contents may be posted on the website designated by the competent authority in charge of 
securities affairs or the Company, and such website shall be indicated in the notice:  

(a) election or discharge of Directors; 

(b) amendments to these Articles; 

(c) reduction of capital; 

(d) application for the approval of ceasing its status as a public company; 

(e) dissolution, Merger or Spin-off, equity conversion of the Company; 

(f) entering into, amendment to, or termination of any contract for lease of its business in whole, or for entrusting 
business, or for regular joint operation with others; 

(g) the transfer of the whole or any material part of its business or assets;  

(h) taking over another's whole business or assets, which will have a material effect on the business operation of the 
Company; 

(i) carrying out private placement of its securities; 

(j) granting waiver to the Director’s engaging in any business within the scope of business of the Company; 

(k) distributing part or all of its dividends or bonus by way of issuance of new Shares;  

(l) transfer of Treasury Shares pursuant to Article 32; and 

(m) capitalization of any amounts standing to the credit of the statutory reserve or the following Capital Reserves - 
Share Premium Account and/or income from endowments received by the Company, or making distributions out 
of the Statutory Reserve and the Share Premium Account to its Members in newly issued shares or cash. 

Subject to the Law, the Applicable Listing Rules and these Articles, the Members may propose matters in a general 
meeting by ad hoc motions, and the matters proposed by the Members shall be directly related to the matters specified 
and described in the notice of a general meeting. In case the matters proposed by the Members violate this paragraph, 
the matters proposed may be denied by the Chairman. 

45. For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the 
Company shall prepare a manual and related materials for each general meeting. Such manual and materials shall be 
published on the website designated by the Commission and the GreTai Securities Market or TSE pursuant to the 
Applicable Listing Rules at least 21 days prior to the date of the relevant annual general meeting or 15 days prior to the 
date of the relevant extraordinary general meeting.  

 

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

46. No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of Members is present at the time when the 
meeting proceeds to business. Save as otherwise provided by these Articles, the holders of Shares being more than an 
aggregate of one-half of all Shares in issue present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum for all 
purposes. 

47. Member(s) holding one percent or more of the total number of issued Shares immediately prior to the relevant Register 
close period may propose in writing or in electronic means to the Company a proposal for discussion at a general meeting, 
provided that only one matter shall be allowed in each single proposal, and in case a proposal contains more than one 
matter, such proposal shall not be included in the agenda.   The following procedures shall apply for making such 
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proposals: 

(a) Prior to the date of the relevant Register of Members close period, the Company shall, in accordance with the 
Applicable Listing Rules, provide a public notice announcing the place and the period for Members to submit 
proposals to be discussed at the general meeting. The period for accepting such proposals shall be at least 10 days; 

(b) The number of words of a proposal to be submitted by a Member shall be limited to not more than 300 words, and 
any proposal containing more than 300 words shall not be included in the agenda of the general meeting. The 
Member who has submitted a proposal shall attend, in person or by a proxy, the general meeting whereat his/her 
proposal is to be discussed and shall take part in the discussion of such proposal; 

(c) Except for any of the following circumstances, the Directors of the Company shall include the proposal submitted 
by a Member in the list of proposals to be discussed at the general meeting: 

i. Where the subject (the issue) of the said proposal cannot be settled or resolved by a resolution to be adopted at 
a general meeting; 

ii. Where the number of Shares of the Company in the possession of the Member making the said proposal is less 
than one percent of the total number of issued Shares at the date of the relevant Register close period; 

iii. Where the said proposal is submitted on a day beyond the deadline fixed and announced by the Company for 
accepting Members' proposals; or 

iv. Where the said proposal containing more than 300 words or more than one matters in a single proposal. 

(d) The Company shall, prior to preparing and delivering the notice of the general meeting, inform in writing all the 
Members who have submitted proposals pursuant hereto about the proposal screening results, and shall list in the 
said notice the proposals conforming to the requirements as set out in this Article. With regard to the proposals 
submitted by Members but not included in the agenda of the general meeting, the cause of exclusion of such 
proposals and explanation shall be made by the Directors at the general meeting to be convened. 

(e) A shareholder proposal proposed for urging the Company to promote public interests or fulfill its social 
responsibilities may still be included in the list of proposals to be discussed at a regular meeting of shareholders by 
the board of directors. 

48. The chairman, if any, of the Board of Directors shall preside as chairman at every general meeting of the Company 
convened by the Board of the Directors. For a general meeting convened by any other person having the convening right, 
such person shall act as the chairman of that meeting; provided that if there are two or more persons jointly having the 
convening right, the chairman of the meeting shall be elected from those persons. 

49. If there is no such chairman, or if at any general meeting he/she is not present within fifteen minutes after the time 
appointed for holding the meeting or is unwilling to act as chairman, any Director nominated by the Directors shall 
preside as chairman, failing which the Members present shall choose any Person present to be chairman of that meeting. 

50. The chairman may (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn a meeting from time to time and from place to place 
by an Ordinary Resolution, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left 
unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place. When a meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, 
notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original meeting. Save as aforesaid it shall not be 
necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting. 

51. At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll.  

52. Unless otherwise expressly required by the Law, the Applicable Listing Rules or these Articles, any matter which has 
been presented for resolution, approval, confirmation or adoption by the Members at any general meeting may be passed 
by an Ordinary Resolution. All resolutions put to the vote of a meeting shall be decided by poll. No resolutions will be 
passed by written resolution of Members without a meeting. 

53. In the case of an equality of votes, the chairman of the meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote. 

54. The Company shall by a Special Resolution (Taiwan): 

(a) enter into, amend, or terminate any contract for lease of its business in whole, or for entrusting business, or for 
regular joint operation with others;  

(b) transfer the whole or any material part of its business or assets, provided that Paragraph 2 of this Article 54 shall 

apply;  
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(c) take over the transfer of another's whole business or assets, which will have a material effect on the business 
operation of the Company;  

(d) effect any Spin-off, acquisition or share exchange of the Company, provided that Paragraph 2 of this Article 54 

shall apply; 

(e) carry out private placement of its securities;  

(f) distribute part or all of its dividends or bonus by way of issuance of new Shares;  

(g) grant waiver to a Director’s engaging in any business within the scope of the Company’s business; or 

(h) issue restricted Shares to the employees. 

If the Company dissolves after participating a merger, or takes part in a general transfer, share exchange or spin-off 
transaction, which causes the de-listing of its shares, and where the surviving, transferee, existing or newly incorporated 
company is not a public listed company at Taiwan Stock Exchange or Over-the-counter market, such transaction shall 
require a resolution adopted by Members representing two-third or more of the total number of its issued shares. 

55. The Company may, by a Special Resolution,  

(a) effect a Merger of the Company in accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules and the Law; 

(b) Amend these Articles and the Memorandum of Association; 

(c) change the name of the Company; and 

(d) reduce the capital and capital redemption reserve. 

55A. With regard to the dissolution procedures of the Company, the Company shall pass: 

(a) an Ordinary Resolution, if the Company resolves that it be wound up voluntarily because it is unable to pay its 
debts as they fall due; or  

(b) a Special Resolution, if the Company resolves that it be wound up voluntarily for reasons other than paragraph (a) 
of Article 55A. 

56. In the event any of the resolutions with respect to any of the following matters, any Member with objection against 
which may request the Company to repurchase his/her shares: 

(a) the Paragraph 1, Subparagraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) of Article 54; 

(b) spin-off or merger, acquisition or share exchange with other company; or 

(c) in accordance with any specific provisions under any applicable listing rules. 

The Member filing a request under the preceding paragraph shall make it in writing within 20 days since the resolution 
of the general meeting was made and specify the price for buying back.  In the event the price of the Shares repurchase 
is negotiated and agreed upon by and between the Company and the selling Member, the Company shall pay the 
repurchase price to such selling Member within 90 days upon the resolution date of the general meeting. If the Company 
and the selling Member fail to reach an agreement on the price of Shares repurchase, the Company shall pay the 
repurchase price that it determines as fair price to the Member who has not so agreed on the repurchase price.  Company 
fails to so pay the repurchase price to the selling Member shall deemed that it has agreed upon the repurchase price 
specified by the selling Member. 

In the event the Company and the selling Member fail to reach an agreement on the price of Shares repurchase within 
60 days upon the resolution date of the general meeting, the Company shall, within 30 days upon the lapse of such 60-
day period, file a motion with the Taiwan Taipei District Court, in which all selling Members who disagree with the 
repurchase price are listed as respondents, to issue a ruling on the repurchase price. 

VOTES OF MEMBERS 

57. (A)Subject to any rights and restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of Shares, every Member and 
every person representing a Member by proxy shall have one vote for each Share of which he or the person represented 
by proxy is the holder. 
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(B)In the event that a Member holds Share for others, such Member may separately exercise his vote in favour of or 
against the relevant resolution.  The qualifications, scope, method of exercise, operating procedure and other matters 
which shall be complied with shall be in accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules.  

58. No vote may be exercised with respect to any of the following Shares: 

(a) the Share(s) of the Company that are held by the Company itself (the Treasury Share(s)); 

(b) the Shares held by any subsidiary company of the Company, where the total number of voting Shares or total Shares 
equity held by the Company in such a subsidiary represents more than one-half of the total number of voting Shares 
or the total Shares equity of such a subsidiary; or 

(c) the Shares held by another company, where the total number of the Shares or total Shares equity of that company 
held by the Company and its subsidiaries directly or indirectly represents more than one-half of the total number 
of voting Shares or the total Share equity of such a company. 

The Shares held by Members having no voting right shall not be counted in the total number of issued Shares while 
adopting a resolution at a general meeting, nor, for the avoidance of doubt, be counted in the quorum at the meeting. 

59. In the case of joint holders, the joint holders shall select among them a representative for the exercise of their Member’s 
rights and the vote of their representative who tenders a vote whether in person or by proxy shall be accepted to the 
exclusion of the votes of the joint holders. 

60. A Member of unsound mind, or in respect of whom an order has been made by any court having jurisdiction in lunacy, 
may vote by his/her committee, or other person in the nature of a committee appointed by that court, and any such 
committee or other person may vote by proxy. 

61. (A)Any Member who bears a personal interest that may conflict with and impair the interest of the Company in respect 
of any matter proposed for consideration and approval at a general meeting shall abstain from voting in respect of all 
the Shares that such Member should otherwise be entitled to vote and such Shares shall not be counted in the number of 
votes of Members present at the meeting. The aforementioned Member shall also not vote on behalf of any other Member. 

(B)In case that any Director gives security over more than 50% of the number of his/her/its Shares (the “Pledged 
Shares”) he/she/it held at the time he/she/it was elected as a Director or a Supervisor (the “Initial Shares”), no vote 
may be exercised with respect to the Shares representing the difference between the Pledged Shares and the 50% of the 
Initial Shares, and such Shares representing the difference between the Pledged Shares and the 50% of the Initial Shares 
shall not be counted in the number of the votes of the Members present at the general meeting.  

62. The voting power exercising by way of electronic transmission shall be listed by the Company as one of the ways of 
exercising the voting power since 2016. In the event the general meeting is to be held outside Taiwan, the Company 
shall specify in the notice of the general meeting that the votes may be exercised in writing or by way of electronic 
voting transmission. In the event that the votes are exercised in writing, both the materials stipulated in Article 43(B) 
and the form of votes exercised in writing shall be sent to the Members.  

63. A Member who exercises his votes in writing or by way of electronic transmission as set forth in the preceding Article 
62 shall be deemed to have appointed the chairman of the general meeting as his or her proxy to exercise his or her 
voting right at such general meeting in accordance with the instructions stipulated in the written or electronic document, 
but shall be deemed to have waived his votes in respective of any ad hoc motions and the amendments to the contents 
of the original proposals at such general meeting; provided, however, that such appointment shall be deemed not to 
constitute the appointment of a proxy for the purposes of the Applicable Listing Rules.  The chairman, acting as proxy 
of a Member, shall not exercise the voting right of such Member in any way not stipulated in the written or electronic 
document. 

64. A Member shall submit his or her vote by way of written ballot or electronic transmission pursuant to Article 62 to the 
Company no later than two (2) days prior to the scheduled meeting date of the general meeting; whereas if two (2) or 
more such written ballot or electronic transmission are submitted to the Company, the proxy deemed to be given to the 
chairman of the general meeting pursuant to Article 63 by the first written ballot or transmission shall prevail unless it 
is expressly included in the subsequent vote by written ballot or electronic transmission that the original vote submitted 
by written ballot or electronic transmission be revoked. 

65. In case a Member who has submitted his votes by written ballot or electronic transmission intends to attend the general 
meeting in person, he shall, at least two (2) day prior to the date of the meeting revoke such vote by written ballot or 
electronic transmission and such revocation shall constitute a revocation of the proxy deemed to be given to the chairman 
of the general meeting pursuant to Article 63.  If a Member who has submitted his or her vote in writing or by way of 
electronic transmission pursuant to Article 62 does not submit such a revocation before the prescribed time, his or her 
vote by written ballot or electronic transmission and the proxy deemed to be given to the chairman of the general meeting 
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pursuant to Article 63 shall prevail. If a Member has submitted his or her vote in writing or by way of electronic 
transmission pursuant to Article 62, and has subsequently submitted a proxy appointing a person as his or her proxy to 
attend the general meeting on his or her behalf, the subsequent appointment of that person as his or her proxy shall be 
deemed to be a revocation of such Member’s deemed appointment of the chairman of the general meeting as his or her 
proxy pursuant to Article 63 and the vote casted by that person subsequently appointed as his or her proxy shall prevail. 

66. (A) The proceedings regarding general meetings and voting at general meetings which are not provided for in these 
Articles shall be governed by the Rules Governing the Conduct of the General Meetings of the Company and the 
Applicable Listing Rules, as adopted and amended by way of Ordinary Resolution from time to time, which shall be in 
compliance with the Law and the Applicable Listing Rules. 

(B) In case the procedure for convening a general meeting of Members or the method of adopting resolutions is in 
violation of the Law, Applicable Listing Rules or these Articles, a Member may, within 30 days from the date of the 
resolution, submit a petition to the Taipei District Court of Taiwan as the court of jurisdiction and first instance or the 
courts of the Cayman Islands for an appropriate remedy. 

 

PROXY SOLICITATION 

67. (A) A Member may appoint a proxy to attend a general meeting on his/her behalf by executing a proxy form prepared 
by the Company stating therein the scope of power authorized to the proxy. A Member may only execute one proxy 
form and appoint one proxy for each general meeting, and shall serve such written proxy to the Company no later than 
5 days prior to the meeting date. In case the Company receives two or more written proxies from one Member, the first 
one arriving at the Company shall prevail unless an explicit statement to revoke the previous written proxy is made in 
the proxy which comes later. 

(B) After the service of a proxy to the company, in case the Member issuing the said proxy intends to attend the general 
meeting in person, a proxy rescission notice shall be filed with the Company at least two (2) days prior to the date of the 
general meeting as scheduled in the general meeting notice so as to rescind the proxy at issue, otherwise, the voting 
power exercised by the authorized proxy at the meeting shall prevail. 

68. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in the form approved by the Company and be expressed to be for a particular 
meeting only. The proxy form shall include at least the following information: (a) instructions on how to complete such 
proxy, (b) the matters to be voted or executed upon pursuant to such proxy, and (c) basic identification information 
related to the Member, proxy solicitor/recipient and proxy solicitation agent (if any). The proxy form shall be provided 
to the Members together with the relevant written or electronic notice of the general meeting, and such written or 
electronic notice and proxy materials shall be distributed to all Members on the same day. 

69. Except for trust enterprises or Members’ Service Agencies approved by Taiwan competent authorities or as otherwise 
specified under these Articles, when a person who acts as the proxy for two or more Members, the number of votes 
represented by him/her shall not exceed 3 percent of the total number of votes of the Company and the portion of 
excessive votes represented by such proxy shall not be counted. 

70. For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, all 
matters concerning proxies and/or the solicitation of proxies by a solicitor relating to the Shares of the Company shall 
comply with all Applicable Listing Rules, whether or not expressly provided for in these Articles. 

 

CORPRATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES AT MEETINGS 

71. Any corporation which is a Member or a Director may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise 
such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the Company or of any class of Members or of 
the Board of Directors or of a committee of Directors, and the person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same 
powers on behalf of the corporation which he/she represents as that corporation could exercise if it were an individual 
Member or Director. Any corporation which is a Member may replace such representative from time to time. 

 

DIRECTORS 

72. The name of the first Director(s) shall either be determined in writing by a majority (or in the case of a sole subscriber 
that subscriber) of, or elected at a meeting of, the subscribers of the Memorandum of Association. 
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73. (A) Unless otherwise determined by the Company in general meeting, prior to the Shares of the Company are registered 
in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the number of Directors shall be no less than 
five Directors, and the exact number of Directors is to be determined from time to time solely by the Board. The 
professional qualifications, compositions, election and discharges of the Directors, the exercise of their powers, and 
other related matters shall comply with the Applicable Listing Rules. 

(B) For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, 
the Directors shall include such number of Independent Directors as applicable law, rules or regulations or the Applicable 
Listing Rules require for a foreign issuer.  Where the Company is listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the 
Board shall have at least 2 Independent Directors and the number of Independent Directors shall not be less than 1/5 of 
the total number of Directors, of whom at least one Independent Director shall have domicile in Taiwan. The professional 
qualifications, compositions, elections and discharges of the Independent Directors, the exercise of their powers, and 
other related matters shall comply with the Applicable Listing Rules. 

(C) Where the number of Independent Directors on the Board falls below the minimum number required by these 
Articles, the Company shall hold a by-election for Independent Directors at the next following general meeting. Where 
all of the Independent Directorships become vacant, within 60 days of the occurrence of such shortfall, an extraordinary 
general meeting of Members to elect succeeding Independent Directors to fill the vacancies shall be held. 

(D) Any juristic person or corporation which is a Member, its authorized representative may also be elected as the 
Director in such representative personal capacity. If there are two or more authorized representatives, each of them may 
be so elected. 

74. (A) The general meeting of the Members may appoint any natural or legal Person to be a Director; provided however 
that more than half of the Directors shall not, as among them, have spousal relationship or familial relationship within 
the second degree of kinship. 

(B) Where the Directors elected in the general meeting do not meet the condition set forth in Article 74(A), the election 
of the Director receiving the lowest number of votes among those not meeting the said condition shall be deemed null 
and void. 

(C) When a person serving as Director is in violation of Article 74(A), that person shall be subject to ipso facto dismissal 
through the mutatis mutandis application of Article 74(B). 

(D) When the number of Directors falls below 5 due to the dismissal of a Director for any reason, the Company shall 
hold a by-election for Directors at the next following general meeting. 

(E) When the number of vacancies in the Board equals to one-third of the total number of Directors determined from 
time to time by the Board, the Board of Directors shall hold, within 60 days of the occurrence of such shortfall, an 
extraordinary general meeting to elect succeeding Directors to fill the vacancies. 

75. At a general meeting for election of Directors, the number of votes exercisable in respect of one Share shall be the same 
as the number of Directors to be elected, and the total number of votes per Share may be consolidated for election of 
one candidate or may be split for election of two or more candidates. A candidate to whom the ballots cast represent a 
prevailing number of votes shall be deemed a director so elected. The authorized representative of a Member may be 
elected as a Director, and if there is a plural number of such authorized representatives, each of them may be so elected. 

76. The Directors may adopt a director candidate nomination mechanism which is in compliance with the Applicable Listing 
Rules, and establish rules and procedures related to such director candidate nomination mechanism in accordance with 
the Applicable Listing Rules.  The election of directors and independent directors shall adopt the candidate nomination 
mechanism in accordance with the Applicable Listing Rules. 

77. Subject to the provisions of these Articles, the term for which a Director will hold office shall not exceed 3 years; 
thereafter he/she may be eligible for re-election. In case no election of new Directors is effected after expiration of the 
term of office of the existing Directors, the term of office of such Directors shall be extended until the time new Directors 
are elected and assume their office. 

78. (A)A Director may be discharged at any time by a Special Resolution (Taiwan). If a Director is discharged during the 
term of his/her office as a director without good cause, such Director may make a claim against the Company for any 
and all damages sustained by him/her as a result of such discharge. 

(B)If the general meeting held prior to the expiration of the term of the existing Directors decides that all Directors will 
be re-elected with effect immediately after the adoption of such resolution (the “Appointment”), unless otherwise 
resolved at such general meeting, the term of the existing Directors shall be deemed to have expired immediately prior 
to the Appointment. Such resolution made in the general meeting shall be attended by the Members who represent more 
than one-half of the total number of issued Shares. 
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79. The Board of Directors shall have a Chairman (the “Chairman”) elected and appointed by a majority of the Directors 
present at the Board meeting the quorum of which shall be two-thirds of all of the Directors then in office. The period 
for which the Chairman will hold office will also be determined by a majority of the Directors present at the Board 
meeting with a quorum of at least two-thirds of all of the Directors then in office. The Chairman shall preside as chairman 
at every meeting of the Board, and shall represent the Company in all external affairs. However, in the first meeting of 
each term of the board of directors, it shall be convened by the director who received a ballot representing the largest 
number of votes at the shareholder meeting; the   convener shall act as the chairman of that meeting provided, however, 
that if there are two or more persons having the convening right, the chairman of the meeting shall be elected from 
among themselves. In case the chairman of the board of directors is on leave or absent or cannot exercise his power and 
authority for any cause, the vice chairman shall act on his behalf. In case there is no vice chairman, or the vice chairman 
is also on leave or absent or unable to exercise his power and authority for any cause, the chairman of the board of 
directors shall designate one of the managing directors, or where there is no managing directors, one of the directors to 
act on his behalf. In the absence of such a designation, the managing directors or the directors shall elect from among 
themselves an acting chairman of the board of directors.  

80. There shall be no shareholding qualification for Directors. 

 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES 

81. The Directors shall be authorized and delegated the power to set remuneration for all Directors. Director’s remuneration 
shall be in accordance with their involvement to the operation of the Company, their contribution to the Company, and 
Taiwan and international standards in the industry.  Each Director shall be entitled to be repaid or prepaid all travelling, 
hotel and incidental expenses reasonably incurred or expected to be incurred by him/her in attending meetings of the 
Board or committees of the Board or general meetings or separate meetings of any class of Shares or of debentures of 
the Company or otherwise in connection with the discharge of his/her duties as a Director.  

82. (Deleted) 

PROXY OF DIRECTOR 

83. Any Director may appoint another Director, to be the proxy of that Director to attend and vote on his/her behalf, in 
accordance with instructions given by that Director, at a meeting or meetings of the Directors which that Director is 
unable to attend personally; however, no Director may act as proxy for more than one Director. The instrument 
appointing the proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointing Director and shall be in any usual or common 
form or such other form as the Directors may approve, and must be lodged with the chairman of the meeting of the 
Directors at which such proxy is to be used, or first used, prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

 

POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS 

84. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, these Articles, the Applicable Listing Rules and to any resolutions 
made in a general meeting, the business of the Company shall be managed by the Directors, who may pay all expenses 
incurred in setting up and registering the Company and may exercise all powers of the Company. No resolution passed 
by the Company in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors which would have been valid if that 
resolution had not been made. 

84A.(A) The Directors shall owe fiduciary duties to the Company and such fiduciary obligations shall include but not limited 
to the observance of general standards of loyalty, good faith, and the avoidance of a conflict of duty and self-interest. 
Subject to Cayman Islands law, (i) if the Director has acted contrary to this provision, he/she/it shall be liable for the 
damages incurred by the Company therefrom; and (ii) if the Director has acted for himself/herself/itself or for another 
person, the general meeting may, by an Ordinary Resolution, deem the earnings in such an act as earnings of the 
Company. 

(B) Subject to Cayman Islands law, if any Director has, in the course of conducting the business operations, violated 
laws or regulations and thus caused damage to any other person, he/she/it and the Company may be liable, jointly and 
severally, for the damage to such other person. 

(C) Any managerial officer who is in the course of conducting the business operations shall take the same liability as 
the Director. 

85. The Directors may appoint a Chief Executive Officer and other managers (who may or may not be Directors) as the 
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officers of the Company as the Directors may from time to time determine, all of whom shall be deemed to be officers 
for the purposes of the Law and these Articles, and for such term and at such remuneration (whether by way of salary 
or commission or participation in earnings or partly in one way and partly in another), and with such powers and duties 
as the Directors may think fit. Any Person so appointed by the Directors may be removed by the Directors.  

86. (A)The Directors may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of such member or members of their body 
as they think fit; any committee so formed shall in the exercise of the powers so delegated conform to any regulations 
that may be imposed on it by the Directors. 

(B)The Company shall establish a remuneration committee, and the professional qualifications, compositions, election 
and discharges of its members, the exercise of their powers, and other related matters shall comply with the Applicable 
Listing Rules. 

(C) Remuneration referred to in the preceding paragraph shall include salary, stock options, and any other substantive 
incentive measures for Directors and managerial officers. 

87. The Directors may from time to time provide for the management of the affairs of the Company in such manner as they 
shall think fit and the provisions contained in the three next following Articles shall not limit the general powers 
conferred by this Article. 

88. The Directors from time to time and at any time may establish any committees, local boards or agencies for managing 
any of the affairs of the Company and may appoint any persons to be members of such committees or local boards and 
may appoint any managers or agents of the Company and may fix the remuneration of any such persons. 

89. The Directors from time to time and at any time may delegate to any such committee, local board, manager or agent any 
of the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in the Directors and may authorise the members for 
the time being of any such local board, or any of them to fill any vacancies therein and to act notwithstanding vacancies 
and any such appointment or delegation may be made on such terms and subject to such conditions as the Directors may 
think fit and the Directors may at any time remove any person so appointed and may annul or vary any such delegation, 
but no person dealing in good faith and without notice of any such annulment or variation shall be affected thereby. 

90. Any such delegates as aforesaid may be authorized by the Directors to subdelegate all or any of the powers, authorities, 
and discretion for the time being vested in them. 

BORROWING POWERS OF DIRECTORS 

91. Subject to these Articles and Applicable Listing Rules, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to 
borrow money and to mortgage or charge its undertaking, property, to issue debentures, debenture stock and other 
securities whenever money is borrowed or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third 
party. 

 

THE SEAL 

92. The Seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors provided 
always that such authority may be given prior to or after the affixing of the Seal and if given after may be in general 
form confirming a number of affixings of the Seal. The Seal shall be affixed in the presence of at least one (1) Director 
or in the presence of any one (1) or more Persons as the Directors may appoint for the purpose and every Person as 
aforesaid shall sign every instrument to which the Seal is so affixed in their presence. 

93. The Company may maintain a facsimile of the Seal in such countries or places as the Directors may appoint and such 
facsimile Seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors 
provided always that such authority may be given prior to or after the affixing of such facsimile Seal and if given after 
may be in general form confirming a number of affixings of such facsimile Seal.  

DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS 

94. A person shall not be qualified to hold office as a Director if any of the situations set forth in (a) through (h) below 
applies to such Person. In addition, the office of Director shall be vacated, if Director: 

(a) committed a felony (including but not limited to the crimes stipulated in the R.O.C “Organized Crime Prevention 
Act”) and has been adjudicated guilty by a final judgment, and has not started serving the sentence, has not 
completed serving the sentence, or 5 years have not elapsed since completion of serving the sentence, expiration of 
the probation, or pardon; 
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(b) has been sentenced to imprisonment for a term of more than one year by a final judgment for commitment of fraud, 
breach of trust or misappropriation, and has not started serving the sentence, has not completed serving the sentence, 
or 2 years have not elapsed since completion of serving the sentence, expiration of the probation, or pardon; 

(c) has been adjudicated guilty by a final judgment for committing the offense as specified in the Anti-corruption Act, 
and has not started serving the sentence, has not completed serving the sentence, or 2 years have not elapsed since 
completion of serving the sentence, expiration of the probation, or pardon; 

(d) has been adjudicated to be bankrupt or has been adjudicated of the commencement of liquidation process by a court 
and has not been reinstated to his rights and privileges; 

(e) has been dishonored for unlawful use of credit instruments, and the term of such sanction has not expired yet; 

(f) incapacity or partial incapacity; 

(g) Has been adjudicated of the commencement of assistantship and such assistantship having not been revoked yet; 

(h) resigns his/her office by notice in writing to the Company; 

(i) is removed from office by Special Resolution (Taiwan). 

94A. (A) A Director (not including the independent director) will be automatically discharged if, during his/her/its tenure, 
such Director transfers more than one half of the Shares held by him/her/it at the time of election; a Director will also 
be automatically discharged if the aggregated number of Shares transferred by such Director prior to and after the 
amendment of these Articles is more than one half of the Shares held by him/her/it at the time of election. 

(B) If, after he/she/it is elected, a Director (not including the independent director) transfers more than one half of the 
Shares held by him/her at the time of election before he/she/it assumes office, or transfers more than one half of the 
total number of Shares held by him/her/it during the period prior to the general meeting where share transfer 
registration is suspended, the election of such Director shall become invalid. 

95. Subject to the Companies Law and Cayman Islands laws, if a Director commits, in the course of performing his/her 
duties, any act resulting in material damage to the Company or in serious violation of applicable laws and/or regulations 
or these Articles, but has not been removed by the Company pursuant to a Special Resolution (Taiwan), then any 
Member(s) holding 3 percent or more of the total number of issued Shares shall have the right, within 30 days after that 
general meeting, to submit a petition to the Taipei District Court as the court of jurisdiction in the first instance, or the 
courts of the Cayman Islands, for the removal of such Director. 

PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS 

96. The Directors may, upon provision of 7 days’ notice (exclusive of the day on which it is given and the day of the meeting) 
in writing to each Director specifying the place, the day and the time of the meeting and the nature of business to be 
transacted at the meeting, meet together (either within or outside the Cayman Islands) for the dispatch of business, 
adjourn, and otherwise regulate their meetings and proceedings as they think fit. Board meetings shall be held within 
such period and with such frequency as may be prescribed by the Applicable Listing Rules. In the case of emergency 
(as defined in Taiwan Company Act), the meeting of Directors may be convened at any time. The notice for meeting of 
Directors may be given by means of electronic communication if the Company obtains prior consent by the individual 
recipients.  

97. Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by means of such visual communication facilities as permit all 
persons participating in the meeting to see and communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously, and 
participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. 

98. Unless otherwise stipulated in these Articles, the quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Directors 
shall be more than one-half of the Directors. A Director represented by proxy at any meeting shall be deemed to be 
present for the purposes of determining. Except as otherwise required under Article 99, questions arising at any meeting 
shall be decided by a majority of votes present at such meeting. In case of an equality of votes the Chairman shall not 
have a second or casting vote. 

99. The following actions require the approval of a majority of the votes of the Directors present at a Board meeting attended 
by at least two-thirds of all Directors: 

(a) entering into, amendment to, or termination of any contract for lease of its business in whole, or for entrusted 
business, or for regular joint operation with others;  

(b) the sale or transfer of the whole or any material part of its business or assets;  



 

- 19 - 
 

(c) taking over the transfer of another's whole business or assets, which will have a material effect on the business 
operation of the Company;  

(d) the election of Chairman of the Board pursuant to these Articles; 

(e) issuance of corporate bonds;  

(f) issuance of Shares as provided in Article 8; and 

(g) the actions prescribed in Article 9, 15(A), 30, and 79. 

100. (A)A Director who has a personal interest in the matter under discussion at a Board meeting shall disclose and explain 
to the Board at such Board meeting the essential contents of such personal interest.  In the merger/consolidation and 
acquisition by the Company, the director who has a personal interest in the transaction of merger/consolidation and 
acquisition shall explain to the Board meeting and the general meeting the essential contents of such personal interest 
and the cause of approval or dissent to the resolution of merger /consolidation or acquisition. 

(B)Where the spouse, a blood relative within the second degree of kinship of a director, or any company which has a 
controlling or subordinate relation with a director has interests in the matters under discussion in the meeting of the 
preceding paragraph, such director shall be deemed to have a personal interest in the matter. 

(C)A Director who has personal interest in the matter under discussion at a Board meeting which may impair the interests 
of the Company shall refrain from voting on such matter in the Board meeting or exercising voting right on such matter 
by himself/herself or on behalf of another Director in the said Board meeting. The voting right of such Director who 
cannot vote or exercise any voting right as prescribed above shall not be counted in the number of votes of Directors 
present at the Board meeting. 

101. A Director who does anything for himself/herself or on behalf of another person that is within the scope of the Company's 
business shall declare the essential contents of such behaviour to the general meeting of the Members and be approved 
by a Special Resolution (Taiwan). Failure in obtaining such approval shall cause the Director being so interested be 
liable to account to the Company for any profit realized by any such behaviour if the general meeting so resolves by an 
Ordinary Resolution within one year from such behaviour. 

102. A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company in conjunction with his/her office of Director 
for such period and on such terms (as to remuneration and otherwise) as the Directors may determine and no Director 
shall be disqualified by his/her office from contracting with the Company either with regard to his/her tenure of any 
such other office or place of profit, nor shall any Director so contraction or being so interested be liable to account to 
the Company for any profit realized by any such contract or arrangement by reason of such Director holding that office 
or of the fiduciary relation thereby established.  

103. Subject to these Articles, any Director may act by himself/herself or his/her firm in a professional capacity for the 
Company, and he/she or his/her firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he/she were not a 
Director, provided that nothing herein contained shall authorise a Director or his/her firm to act as auditor to the 
Company. 

104. The following matters proposed to be transacted by the Company shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for 
approval by at least two-thirds of all Directors unless approval has been obtained from the competent authority in Taiwan. 
All resolutions put to the vote of a Board of Directors shall be decided by poll. No resolutions will be passed by written 
resolution of Directors without a meeting. When an Independent Director has a dissenting opinion or qualified opinion 
on the following matters, the dissenting or qualified opinion of the Independent Director shall be noted in the minutes 
of the meeting of Directors: 

(a) Adoption or amendment of the Company’s internal control system; 

(b) Assessment to the effectiveness of the internal control system; 

(c) Adoption or amendment of handling procedures for financial or operational actions of material significance to the 
Company, such as acquisition or disposal of assets, derivatives trading, extension of monetary loans to others, or 
endorsements or guarantees for others; 

(d) Any matter bearing on the personal interest of a Director; 

(e) Material asset or derivatives transactions; 

(f) Material monetary loan, endorsement, or provision of guarantee; 

(g) The offering, issuance, or private placement of any equity-type securities; 
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(h) The hiring or dismissal of an attesting certified public accountant, or the compensation given thereto; 

(i) The appointment or discharge of a financial, accounting, or internal auditing officer; 

(j) Approval of the annual and semi-annual financial reports; and  

(k) Any other material matter so required by the competent authorities. 

105. The Directors shall cause minutes to be made in books or loose-leaf folders provided for the purpose of recording: 

(a) all appointments of officers made by the Directors; 

(b) the names of the Directors present at each meeting of the Directors and of any committee of the Directors; 

(c) all resolutions and proceedings at all meetings of the Company, and of the Directors and of committees of Directors, 
including the objections and comments made by Independent Directors. 

106. The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body but if and so long as their number is reduced 
below the number fixed by or pursuant to these Articles as the necessary quorum of Directors, the continuing Directors 
may act for the purpose of increasing the number summoning a general meeting of the Company, but for no other purpose. 

107. Subject to any regulations imposed on it by the Directors, a committee appointed by the Directors may elect a chairman 
of its meetings. If no such chairman is elected, or if at any meeting the chairman is not present within fifteen minutes 
after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the members present may choose one of them to be the chairman of 
the meeting. 

108. A committee appointed by the Directors may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper. Subject to any regulations imposed 
on it by the Directors, questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes of the committee 
members present. 

109. All acts done by any meeting of the Directors or of a committee of Directors, or by any person acting as a Director, shall 
notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any such Director or 
person acting as aforesaid, or that they or any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if every such person had been 
duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

110. The Company shall establish the Audit Committee. Its professional qualifications, compositions, election and discharges, 
the exercise of its powers, and other related matters shall comply with the Applicable Listing Rules. 

111. In the event that the Company establishes the Audit Committee, the following matters shall be subject to the consent of 
the Audit Committee and be submitted to the Board of Directors for a final consent:   

(a) Adoption or amendment of an internal control system. 

(b) Assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control system. 

(c) Adoption or amendment of handling procedures for financial or operational actions of material significance, such 
as acquisition or disposal of assets, derivatives trading, extension of monetary loans to others, or endorsements or 
guarantees for others. 

(d) A matter bearing on the personal interest of a Director. 

(e) A material asset or derivatives transaction. 

(f) A material monetary loan, endorsement, or provision of guarantee. 

(g) The offering, issuance, or private placement of any equity-type securities. 

(h) The hiring or dismissal of an attesting certified public accountant, or the compensation given thereto. 

(i) The appointment or discharge of a financial, accounting, or internal auditing officer. 

(j) Annual and semi-annual financial reports. 

(k) Any other material matter so required by the Company or the competent authority. 

With the exception of subparagraph (j), any matter under preceding subparagraph that has not been approved with the 



 

- 21 - 
 

consent of one-half or more of all Audit Committee members may be undertaken upon the consent of two-thirds or more 
of all Directors, and the resolution of the Audit Committee shall be recorded in the minutes of the Directors meeting. 

112. Subject to the Cayman Islands law, Member(s) who has/have been continuously holding 1 percent or more of the total 
number of the issued Shares of the Company for over six month may request in writing the independent directors of the 
Audit Committee of the Company to institute, for and on behalf of the Company, an action against Director(s) of the 
Company; such action may be instituted in the Taipei District Court as the court of jurisdiction in the first instance.  

113. In case the independent directors of the Audit Committee fail to institute an action within 30 days after having received 
the request made under the preceding article, subject to the Cayman Islands Law, the Members filing such request under 
the preceding article may institute the action for and on behalf of the Company; ; such action may be instituted in the 
Taipei District Court as the court of jurisdiction in the first instance. 

114. Subject to the condition that the board of directors does not or is unable to convene a meeting of shareholders, the 
independent directors of the Audit Committee may, for the benefit of the Company, call a meeting of shareholders when 
it is deemed necessary. 

115. Subject to the Company Act, any matter related to the Audit Committee which has not been included in these Articles 
shall refer to the Applicable Listing Rules. 

116. (A) Before any resolution of merger/consolidation and acquisition by the Board of Directors, the Company shall have 
the Audit Committee review the fairness and reasonableness of the plan and transaction of the merger/consolidation or 
acquisition, and then report the review results to the Board of Directors and the general meeting; provided that the Audit 
Committee may restrain from reporting to the general meeting if the laws of the foreign issuer’s registered country does 
not require the merger/consolidation or acquisition to be resolved by the general meeting. 

(B) When the Audit Committee reviews matters, it shall seek opinions from an independent expert on the justification 
of the share exchange ratio or distribution of cash or other assets. 

(C) The review results of the Audit Committee and the opinions from the independent expert shall be sent to the Members 
together with the notice of the general meeting; provided that such matters regarding merger/consolidation and 
acquisition shall be reported to the latest general meeting if the laws of the foreign issuer’s registered country does not 
require the merger/consolidation or acquisition to be resolved by the general meeting. 

117. If the Company announces the same content as in those documents prescribed under the preceding article on a website 
designated by the competent securities authority of R.O.C. and those documents are prepared at the venue of the general 
meeting by the Company, those documents shall be deemed as having been sent to shareholders. 

118. Subject to the Companies Law and these Articles, for so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or 
listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, dividend or bonuses, except for compensation to employees and 
remuneration of Directors and Supervisors, may only be declared in NTD. 

119. As the Company is currently in the developing stage and will need funds for operating in the coming years, the 
distribution of Surplus Earnings shall be conducted according to Article 123.  

120. (A) The surplus earning distribution or loss off-setting proposal shall be proposed at the close of each fiscal year 

(B) The Company distributing surplus earning in accordance with the provision of the preceding paragraph shall estimate 
and reserve the taxes and duties to be paid, the losses to be covered and the legal reserve to be set aside. Where such 
legal reserve amounts to the total paid-in capital, this provision shall not apply. 

(C) The Company shall, by a resolution adopted by a majority of the shareholders present who represent two-thirds or 
more of the total number of its outstanding shares of the Company, distribute surplus earning in the form of new shares 
to be issued by the Company. If the total number of shares represented by the shareholders present at a meeting of 
shareholders is less than the threshold aforementioned, the resolution may be adopted by a large majority of two thirds 
or more of the voting powers of the shareholders present at a shareholders' meeting who represent a majority of the total 
number of issued shares. 

121. Surplus earning distribution or loss off-setting proposals shall be made based on the financial statements audited or 
reviewed by a certified public accountant. 

122. (A) The Company shall distribute no lower than 0.15% of profit of the current year as employees’ compensation, and no 
more than 2% of profit of the current year as directors’ remuneration.  However, the company's accumulated losses 
shall have been covered. 

(B) The profit distributable as employees' compensation may be distributed in stock dividends and/or cash dividends 
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(for fractional Shares, the dividends shall be distributed in cash), and the qualification requirements of employees 
including the employees of subsidiaries of the company meeting certain specific requirements, are entitled to receive 
shares or cash. 

(C) “Profit of the current year” specified in this Article refers to the pre-tax income of the current year before deducting 
the profits attributable as employees’ compensation as well as directors’ remuneration; the certain specific requirements 
are stipulated by the Board of Directors. 

(D) The profits distribution to employees' compensation as well as directors’ remuneration shall be resolved by a majority 
vote at a meeting of board of directors attended by two-thirds of the total number of directors and shall be submitted to 
the shareholders' meeting. 

DlVlDENDS 

123. (A) The Company shall not pay dividends, unless its losses shall have been offset and a Statutory Reserve shall have 
been set aside in accordance with the section(C) of this Article. 

(B) The Company shall not pay dividends when there are no Surplus Earnings (as defined below) unless paid in 
accordance with Article 128(A). 

(C) Where the Company has net profits for the then period at the end of the fiscal year, it shall off-set losses, and 
thereafter setting aside ten percent (10%) as Statutory Reserves provided however that the Statutory Reserve amounts 
equal to the total paid-up capital of the Company, this provision shall not apply. In the event that there is still the balance 
left ("Surplus Earnings"), unless otherwise provided in these Articles, it may add unappropriated retained earnings of 
previous years as bonus shares or dividends, the distribution proposal of which is proposed by the Board of Directors, 
declared and distributed by an Ordinary Resolution at an annual general meeting, and be allocated to the Members as 
bonus Shares or dividends according to the shareholding percentage of every Member.  However, after finance, 
business and operation having been considered, the remainder allocated to the Members by way of bonus Shares or cash 
dividends shall not be less than 20 percent (20%) of the net profits for the then period in accordance with the Companies 
Law and the Applicable Listing Rules. The Members dividends will be distributed in stock dividends and/or cash 
dividends (for fractional Shares, the dividends shall be distributed in cash), and the cash dividends shall not be less than 
30 percent (30%) of the total dividends distributed in the given year. 

124. Aside from the Statutory Reserve, the Company may, by Ordinary Resolution, set aside from its Surplus Earnings an 
additional amount as a special reserve ("Special Reserve") for such purpose as authorized by the Ordinary Resolution. 

125. Unless otherwise provided in these Articles and to the extent permitted by the Laws, the Statutory Reserve and the 
Capital Reserve shall not be used except for off-setting losses of the Company. The Company shall not use the Capital 
Reserve to off-set its capital losses, unless the Statutory Reserve and the Special Reserve are insufficient to off-set such 
losses. 

126. Any resolution declaring a dividend, bonus Shares or other distribution on Shares of any class may specify that the same 
shall be payable or distributable to the persons registered as holders of such Shares at the close of business on a particular 
date. 

127. Any dividend may be paid by cheque sent through the post to the registered address of the Member, or in the case of 
joint holders, to the holder whose name stands first in the Register in respect of the Shares at his address as appearing 
in the Register or addressed to such person and at such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every 
such cheque shall be made payable to the Member or the joint holders unless any of them has otherwise directed. 

128. (A) Where the Company incurs no loss, it may, subject to the Companies Law, by Special Resolution (Taiwan) (a) 
capitalize its Statutory Reserve and following categories of Capital Reserve - Share Premium Account and/or income 
from endowments received by the Company - in whole or in part, by issuing new, fully paid bonus Shares to its Members 
or (b) make distributions out of the Statutory Reserve and the Share Premium Account to its Members in cash.  Where 
the Statutory Reserve is capitalized by issuing new Shares or is distributed in accordance with Article 128(A)(b), only 
the amount of the Statutory Reserve exceeding 25% of the paid-up capital of the Company may be capitalized or 
distributed.  

(B)In the case where the Company issues new Shares to the existing Members by capitalization of its Reserves or due 
to an increase in the value of its assets upon revaluation, Article 11 shall not apply. 

129. If several persons are registered as joint holders of any Share, any of them may give effectual receipts for any dividend 
or other moneys payable on or in respect of the Share. 

130. No dividends shall bear interest against the Company. 
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ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT 

131. The books of account relating to the Company’s affairs shall be kept in such manner as may be determined from time to 
time by the Directors. 

132. The books of account shall be kept at the Office or at such other place or places as the Directors think fit, and shall 
always be open to the inspection of the Directors. 

133. At the close of each financial year, the Board of Directors shall prepare and submit business reports, financial statements, 
and surplus earning distribution or loss off-setting proposals to the Audit Committee for their auditing 30 days prior to 
the commencement of the annual general meeting of Members, and the Board of Directors shall then provide the 
aforementioned documents to the annual general meeting of Members for its ratification. After the documents are ratified 
by the annual general meeting, the Board of Directors shall distribute or announce to each Member copies of the ratified 
financial statements and resolutions on the earning distribution and/or loss offsetting. 

134. The statements and records of accounts prepared by the Directors in accordance with the previous Article on the 
Company’s accounts or business shall be made available at the Office and at the office of the Members’ Service Agent 
in Taiwan for inspection at any time by the Members commencing at least 10 days prior to the annual general meeting. 

135. The accounts relating to the Company's affairs shall only be audited in such manner and with such financial year end as 
may be determined from time to time by the Directors, or required by the Applicable Listing Rules. 

136. Each year the Directors shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, an annual return and declaration setting forth the 
particulars required by the Law and deliver a copy thereof to the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands. 

137. (A)The Board of Directors shall keep at the Office and at the office of its Members’ Service Agent in Taiwan copies of 
the Memorandum and Articles, the minutes of every meeting of the Members and the financial statements, the Register 
and the counterfoil of corporate bonds issued by the Company. Any Member of the Company may request, by submitting 
evidentiary document(s) to show his/her interests involved and indicating the scope of interested matters, an access to 
inspect, transcribe and to make copies of any such accounting books and records. The Company shall have its Members’ 
Service Agent to provide with such accounting books and records. 

(B)The board of directors or other authorized conveners of shareholders’ meetings may require the Company or its 
Members’ Service Agent to provide with the roster of shareholders. 

138. The Board shall be entitled to release or disclose to any regulatory or judicial authority any information in its possession, 
custody or control regarding the Company or its affairs or any of its Member including, without limitation, information 
contained in the Register of Members and transfer books of the Company. 

 

TENDER OFFER 

139. Within ten days after the receipt of the copy of a tender offer application form and relevant documents by the Company 
or its litigation or non-litigation agent appointed pursuant to the Applicable Listing Rules, the Board of the Directors 
shall resolve to recommend to the Members whether to accept or object to the tender offer and make a public 
announcement of the following: 

(a) The types and numbers of the Shares held by the Directors and the Members holding more than 10 percent of the 
issued Shares in its own name or in the name of other persons. 

(b) Recommendations to the Members on the tender offer, which shall set forth the names of the Directors who abstain 
or object to the tender offer and the reason(s) therefor. 

(c) Whether there is any material change in the financial condition of the Company after the submission of the latest 
financial report and an explanation of the change, if any. 

(d) The types, numbers and amount of the Shares of the tender offeror or its affiliates held by the Directors and the 
Members holding more than 10 percent of the issued Shares held in its own name or in the name of other persons. 
And 

(e) Other related material information. 

SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT 
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140. The Directors shall in accordance with Section 34 of the Law establish a Share Premium Account and shall carry to the 
credit of such account from time to time a sum equals to the amount or value of the premium paid on the issue in par 
value of any Share. 

141. There shall be debited to any Share Premium Account on the redemption or purchase of a Share the difference between 
the par value of such Share and the redemption or purchase price provided always that at the discretion of the Directors 
such sum may be paid out of the profits of the Company or, if permitted by Section 37 of the Companies Law, out of 
Capital. 

 

NOTICES 

142. Any notice or document may be served by the company or by the person entitled to give notice to any Member either 
personally, by facsimile or by sending it through the post or via a recognized courier service addressed to the Member 
at his/her address as appearing in the Register of Members. In the case of joint holders of a Share, all notices shall be 
given to that one of the joint holders whose name stands first in the Register of Members in respect of the joint holding, 
and notice so given shall be sufficient notice to all the joint holders. 

143. Any Member present, either personally or by proxy, at any meeting of the Company shall for all purposes be deemed to 
have received due notice of such meeting and, where requisite, of the purposes for which such meeting was convened. 

144. Any notice or other document, if served by (a) post, shall be deemed to have been served five days after the time when 
the letter containing the same is posted, or, (b) facsimile, shall be deemed to have been served upon production by the 
transmitting facsimile machine of a report confirming transmission of the facsimile in full to the facsimile number of 
the recipient or (c) recognized courier service, shall be deemed to have been served 48 hours after the time when the 
letter containing the same is delivered to the courier service. In proving any notice or other document having been duly 
served by post or courier service it shall be sufficient to prove that the letter containing the notice or documents was 
properly addressed and duly posted or delivered to the courier service. 

145. Any notice or document delivered or sent by post to or left at the registered address of any Member in accordance with 
the terms of these Articles shall notwithstanding that such Member be then dead or bankrupt, and whether or not the 
Company has received notice of his/her death or bankruptcy, be deemed to have been duly served in respect of any Share 
registered in the name of such Member as sole or joint holder, unless his/her name shall at the time of the service of the 
notice or document, have been removed from the Register of Members as the holder of the Share, and such service shall 
for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service of such notice or document on all persons interested (whether jointly with 
or as claiming through or under him/her) in the Share. 

146. Notice of every general meeting of the Company shall be given to: 

(a) all Members holding Shares with the right to receive notice and who have provided to the Company an address for 
giving notices to them; and 

(b) every person entitled to a Share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a Member, who  would be entitled 
to receive notice of the meeting 

Subject to the preceding paragraph in this Article, no other person shall be entitled to receive notices of general meetings. 

INDEMNITY 

147. Every Director and officer ( each an “Indemnified Person”) shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets 
and funds of the Company against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges, expenses, losses, damages or liabilities 
incurred or sustained by him/her, other than by reason of his/her own dishonesty, willful default or fraud, in or about the 
conduct of the Company's business or affairs (including as a result of any mistake of judgment) or in the execution or 
discharge of his/her duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including without prejudice to the generality of the 
foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or liabilities incurred by him/her in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) 
any civil proceedings concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere. 

148. For the benefit of every Director and other officer for the time being and from time to time of the Company, the Company 
may purchase liability insurance for them (the “Director and Officer Insurance”); provided that the liability is limited 
to the performance of his/her duties pursuant to the Articles, Law and the Applicable Listing Rules. 

 

FINANCIAL YEAR 



 

- 25 - 
 

149. Unless otherwise prescribed by the Directors, the financial year of the Company shall begin on January 1st of each year 
and shall end on December 31st of such year.  

 

NON-RECOGNITION OF TRUSTS 

150. No person shall be recognized by the Company as holding any Share upon any trust and the Company shall not, unless 
required by law, be bound by or be compelled in any way to recognize (even when having notice thereof) any equitable, 
contingent or future interest in any of its Shares or any other rights in respect thereof except an absolute right to the 
entirety thereof in each Member registered in the Register of Members. 

 

WINDING UP 

151. If the company shall be wound up the liquidator may, with the sanction of an Ordinary Resolution, distribute to the 
Members in specie the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist of property of the 
same kind or not) and may for such purpose set such value as he/she deems fair upon any property to be distributed as 
aforesaid and may determine how such distribution shall be carried out as between the Members or different classes of 
Shares. The liquidator may, with the like sanction, vest the whole or any part of such assets in trustees upon such trusts 
for the benefit of the Members, with the like sanction shall think fit, but so that no Member shall be compelled to accept 
any Shares or other securities whereon there is any liability. 

152. The Company shall keep all statements, records of account and documents for a period of ten years from the date of the 
completion of liquidation and then reporting it to the court, and the custodian thereof shall be appointed by the liquidator 
or the Company by Ordinary Resolution. 

 

AMENDMENT OF MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

153. Subject to the Companies Law and the Applicable Listing Rules, the Company may at any time and from time to time 
by Special Resolution alter or amend the Memorandum of Association or the Articles in whole or in part. However, in 
case the Company has issued preferred Shares, any amendment to the Articles prejudicial to the privileges of the 
Members holding preferred Shares shall also be approved by them. 

 

REGISTRATION BY WAY OF CONTINUATION 

154. The Company may by Special Resolution resolve to be registered by way of continuation in a jurisdiction outside the 
Cayman Islands or such other jurisdiction in which it is for the time being incorporated, registered or existing. In 
furtherance of a resolution adopted pursuant to this Article, the Directors may cause an application to be made to the 
Registrar of Companies to deregister the Company in the Cayman Islands or such other jurisdiction in which it is for the 
time being incorporated, registered or existing and may cause all such further steps as they consider appropriate to be 
taken to effect the transfer by way of continuation of the Company. 

 

AGENT FOR LITIGIOUS AND NON-LITIGIOUS MATTERS 

155. For so long as the Shares are registered in the Emerging Market or listed on the GreTai Securities Market or TSE, the 
Company shall designate an agent for litigious and non-litigious matters in Taiwan in accordance with the Applicable 
Listing Rules and such agent shall be the responsible person of the Company in Taiwan. The aforementioned agent 
shall be a natural person and have a domicile or residence in Taiwan. 
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Appendix II                 

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meetings 

(before amendments) 

Article 1  To establish a strong governance system and sound supervisory capabilities for the 

Company's Shareholders' Meetings, and to strengthen management capabilities, these 

Rules are adopted pursuant to Article 5 of the Corporate Governance Best-Practice 

Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies. 

Article 2  The rules of procedure for the Company's Shareholders' Meetings, except as otherwise 

provided by law, regulation, or the Articles of Association, shall be as provided in these 

Rules. 

Article 3  Convening shareholders’ meetings 

Paragraph 1  Unless otherwise provided by law or regulation, this Corporation's shareholders 

meetings shall be convened by the Board of Directors. Meeting agenda handbooks 

should be prepared for the convening of general shareholders meeting. Notices 

should be issued to shareholders thirty days in advance. Notices to shareholders 

with less than 1,000 registered shares may be issued via announcements on Market 

Observation Post System thirty days in advance. Notices for the convening of 

extraordinary shareholders meeting should be issued fifteen days in advance. 

Notices to shareholders with less than 1,000 registered shares may be issued via 

announcements on Market Observation Post System fifteen days in advance. The 

cause(s) or subject(s) of a general meeting to be convened shall be indicated in the 

individual notice and the public notice to be given to Members; and the notice may, 

as an alternative, be given by means of electronic transmission, after obtaining the 

prior consent of the recipient(s) thereof. 

Paragraph 2  Appointment or dismissal of any director, change of Articles of Association, capital 

reduction, application to suspend the public company status, removal of non-

compete restrictions on directors, capitalization of earnings, capitalization of 

reserves, company dissolution, merger, demerger, or any circumstances described 

in the first paragraph of Article 185 of the Company Act, Article 26-1 and Article 

43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act, Article 56-1 and Article 60-2 of the 

Regulations Governing the Offering and Issuance of Securities by Securities Issuers 

should be listed and explained in the notices for convening and may not be proposed 

during Ad-Hoc Motions. The contents may be published at the websites designated 
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by the securities regulatory or the Company. The websites should be stated in the 

notices.  

Paragraph 3  If there is listed in the meeting notice that all directors will be elected and its 

onboard date, after election, the onboard cannot be changed by Ad-Hoc Motions or 

other method. 

Paragraph 4  Shareholder with at least 1% of the issued shares may submit proposals to the 

Company for general shareholders meetings. The submission is limited to one 

proposal. Submission for more than one proposal will not be included in the agenda. 

Under any of the circumstances listed in Article 172, paragraph 1 to 4 of the 

Company Act, the Board of Directors may exclude the proposal submitted by a 

Shareholder from the list of proposals to be discussed at a general meeting. 

Shareholders may submit constructive proposals to urge the Company to enhance 

public interest or to fulfill social responsibility. Submission is limited to one 

proposal according to the procedural requirements specified in Article 172-1 of the 

Company Act. Submission for more than one proposal will not be included in the 

agenda. 

Paragraph 5  Before the book closure for the convening of the general shareholders meeting, the 

Company should announce the acceptance of shareholders’ proposals, acceptance 

method in writing or electronically, proposal- handling agencies and acceptance 

period. Acceptance period may not be less than ten days. The number of words of 

a proposal to be submitted by a shareholder shall be limited to not more than 300 

words, and any proposal containing more than 300 words shall not be included in 

the agenda of the Shareholders' Meeting. The shareholder who has submitted a 

proposal shall attend, in person or by a proxy, the regular Shareholders' Meeting 

whereat his/her proposal is to be discussed and shall take part in the discussion of 

such proposal. 

Paragraph 6  The Company should inform shareholders of the proposal acceptance outcome 

before the notification for the convening of the Meeting and include the proposals 

in adherence to these rules in the meeting notice. With regard to the proposals 

submitted by shareholders but not included in the agenda of the Meeting, the cause 

of exclusion of such proposals and explanation shall be made by the board of 

Directors at the Shareholders' Meeting to be convened.  

Article 4  Power of Attorney for Shareholders' Meetings 

Paragraph 1  Shareholders may present the proxy printed by the Company by specifying the 

scope of authorization and representative authorized for attendance of each 

shareholders’ meetings.  
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Paragraph 2  Each shareholder is limited to authorizing one person with one proxy. This should 

arrive at the Company at least five days before the shareholders’ meeting. The first 

to arrive shall prevail in case of duplicated proxies. unless an explicit statement to 

revoke the preceding written proxy is made in the proxy which comes later. 

Paragraph 3  After a proxy arrives at the Company but the shareholder decides to attend the 

shareholders’ meeting in person, it is necessary to request in writing to the Company 

to withdraw the proxy two days before the shareholders’’ meeting. If the request for 

withdrawal occurs after the deadline, the voting right exercised by the authorized 

representative shall prevail  

Article 5  Place and Time of Shareholders' Meeting 

  The Shareholders' Meeting shall be held at the head office of the Company or at any other 

appropriate place that is convenient for the shareholders to attend. The time for 

commencing the said meeting shall not be earlier than 9 o'clock in the morning or later 

than 3 o'clock local time in the afternoon, and the opinions of Independent Directors shall 

be soundly considered.  

Article 6  Preparation of Documents such as Attendance Book 

Paragraph 1  The Corporation shall furnish the attending shareholders or proxies (hereinafter 

referred to as the shareholders) with an attendance book to sign in, or attending 

shareholders may hand in a sign-in card in lieu of signing in. 

Paragraph 2  The Company shall furnish attending shareholders with the meeting agenda book, 

annual report, attendance card, speaker's slips, voting slips and other meeting data. 

Where there is an election of directors, pre-printed ballots shall also be furnished. 

Paragraph 3  Shareholders attending the Shareholders' Meeting shall have attendance cards, sign-

in cards or other certificates of attendance issued by the Company. The proxy 

Solicitor shall provide ID documents for verification. 

Paragraph 4  Where the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be represented 

by more than one representative at a shareholders meeting. When a juristic person 

is appointed to attend as proxy, it may designate only one person to represent it in 

the Meeting.  

Article 7  Shareholders' Meeting Chairman and NON-VOTING PARTICIPANTS 

Paragraph 1  If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the board of Directors, the Meeting shall 

be chaired by the Chairman of the board. When the Chairman of the board is on 

leave or for any reason unable to exercise the powers of the Chairman, the vice 

Chairman shall act in place of the Chairman; if there is no vice Chairman or the 

vice Chairman also is on leave or for any reason unable to exercise the powers of 

the vice Chairman, the Chairman shall appoint one of the managing Directors to act 



 

- 29 - 
 

as chair, or, if there are no managing Directors, one of the Directors shall be 

appointed to act as chair. Where the Chairman does not make such a designation, 

the managing Directors or the Directors shall select from among themselves one 

person to serve as chair. 

Paragraph 2  It is advisable that Shareholders' Meetings convened by the Board of Directors be 

attended by a majority of the Directors. 

Paragraph 3  If a Shareholders' Meeting is convened by a party with power to convene but other 

than the board of Directors, the convening party shall chair the Meeting. When there 

are two or more such convening parties, they shall mutually select a chair from 

among themselves. 

Paragraph 4  The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public accountants, or related 

persons retained by it to attend a shareholders meeting in a non-voting capacity.  

Article 8  Documentation of Shareholders' Meeting by Audio or Video 

  The Company shall make an uninterrupted audio and video recording of the entire 

Shareholders' Meeting, and the recorded materials shall be retained for at least one year. 

If, however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the 

recording shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation. 

Article 9  Attendance at and Resolutions of Shareholders' Meeting 

Paragraph 1  Attendance at shareholders’ meetings shall be calculated based on numbers of 

shares. The number of shares in attendance shall be calculated according to the 

shares indicated by the attendance book and sign-in cards handed in plus the number 

of shares whose voting rights are exercised by correspondence or electronically. 

Paragraph 2  At the time of the meeting commencement, the chair should immediately call for 

order and announce information related to the numbers of shares without voting 

rights and the number of shares in attendance. If the shareholders in attendance do 

not represent more than half of the issued shares, the chair may announce 

postponement. The postponement is limited to twice and up to one hour in total. If 

the quorum of attending shareholders representing one third or more of the total 

number of issued shares is not met after two postponements and the attending 

shareholders still represent less than one third of the total number of issued shares, 

the chair shall declare the Meeting adjourned. 

Paragraph 3  In case of no quorum of shareholders representing at least one third of the issued 

shares in attendance after two postponements, tentative resolutions may be reached 

according to the first paragraph of Article 175 of the Company Act. Shareholders 

are then informed of the results of the tentative resolutions and the shareholders’ 

meeting is reconvened within one month.  
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Paragraph 4  When, prior to conclusion of the Meeting, the attending shareholders represent a 

majority of the total number of issued shares, the Chairman may re-submit the 

tentative resolution for a vote by the shareholders meeting pursuant to Article 174 

of the Company Act.  

Article 10  Discussion of proposals 

Paragraph 1  If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the board of directors, the meeting agenda 

shall be set by the board of directors. Relevant proposals (including extemporary 

motions and amendments to original proposals) shall be voted on separately. The 

meeting shall proceed in the order set by the agenda, which may not be changed 

without a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting. 

Paragraph 2  The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis to a 

Shareholders' Meeting convened by a party with the power to convene that is not 

the Board of Directors. 

Paragraph 3  The chairman may not declare the Meeting adjourned prior to completion of 

deliberation on the Meeting agenda of the preceding two paragraphs (including 

extemporary motions), except by a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting. If the 

chair declares the Meeting adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the other 

members of the board of Directors shall promptly assist the attending shareholders 

in electing a new chair in accordance with statutory procedures, by agreement of a 

majority of the votes represented by the attending shareholders and then continue 

the Meeting. 

Paragraph 4  The chair shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for explanation and 

discussion of proposals and of amendments or extemporary motions put forward by 

the shareholders; when the chair is of the opinion that a proposal has been discussed 

sufficiently to put it to a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed and 

call for a vote and schedule sufficient time for voting. 

Article 11  Shareholder Speech 

Paragraph 1  Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a speaker's slip the 

subject of the speech, his/her shareholder account number (or attendance card 

number), and account name. The order in which shareholders speak shall be set by 

the chair. 

Paragraph 2  A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker's slip but does not actually 

speak shall be deemed to have not spoken. When the content of the speech does not 

correspond to the subject given on the speaker's slip, the spoken content shall 

prevail. 

Paragraph 3  Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak more than twice 
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on the same proposal, and a single speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the 

shareholder's speech violates the rules or exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the 

chair may terminate the speech. 

Paragraph 4  When an attending shareholder is speaking, other shareholders may not speak or 

interrupt unless they have sought and obtained the consent of the chair and the 

shareholder that has the floor. The chair shall stop any violations. 

Paragraph 5  When a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more representatives to attend 

a shareholders’ meeting, only one of the representatives so appointed may speak on 

the same proposal. 

Paragraph 6  After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chair may respond in person or direct 

relevant personnel to respond. 

Article 12  Calculation of Voting Shares and Recusal System 

Paragraph 1  Voting at a shareholders’ meeting shall be calculated based on the number of shares. 

Paragraph 2  With respect to resolutions of Shareholders' Meetings, the number of shares held by 

a shareholder with no voting rights shall not be calculated as part of the total number 

of issued shares. 

Paragraph 3  When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda item, and there is 

the likelihood that such a relationship would prejudice the interests of the Company, 

that shareholder may not vote on that item and may not exercise voting rights as 

proxy for any other shareholder. 

Paragraph 4  The number of shares for which voting rights may not be exercised under the 

preceding paragraph shall not be calculated as part of the voting rights represented 

by attending shareholders. 

Paragraph 5  With the exception of a trust enterprise or a shareholder services agent approved by 

the competent securities authority, when one person is concurrently appointed as 

proxy by two or more shareholders, the voting rights represented by that proxy may 

not exceed 3 percent of the voting rights represented by the total number of issued 

shares. If that percentage is exceeded, the voting rights in excess of that percentage 

shall not be included in the calculation.  

Article 13  Voting on Shareholders’ Meeting 

Paragraph 1  A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote, except when the shares are restricted 

shares or are deemed non-voting shares under Article 179, paragraph 2 of the 

Company Act. 

Paragraph 2  Voting rights should be exercised electronically and may be by correspondence for 

the shareholders’ meetings convened by the Company. The methods to exercise 

voting rights by correspondence or electronically should be stated in the notice for 
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shareholders’ meetings. A shareholder exercising voting rights by correspondence 

or electronic means will be deemed to have attended the Meeting in person, but to 

have waived his/her rights with respect to the extraordinary motions and 

amendments to original proposals of that meeting. 

Paragraph 3  The aforesaid indication to exercise voting rights by correspondence or 

electronically should arrive at the Company two days before the shareholders’ 

meeting. The first to arrival shall prevail in case of repeated indications. except 

when a declaration is made to cancel the earlier declaration of intent. 

Paragraph 4  If a shareholder would like to attend the shareholders’ meeting in person after the 

indication to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronically, it is 

necessary to request the withdrawal of the aforesaid indication for exercise of voting 

rights with the same method indicated two days before the shareholders’ meeting. 

If the request for withdrawal occurs after the deadline, the voting right exercised by 

correspondence or electronically shall prevail. When a shareholder has exercised 

voting rights both by correspondence or electronic means and by appointing a proxy 

to attend a shareholders meeting, the voting rights exercised by the proxy in the 

Meeting shall prevail. 

Paragraph 5  Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the Company's Articles of 

Association, the passage of a proposal shall require an affirmative vote of a majority 

of the voting rights represented by the attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, 

for each proposal, the chair or a person designated by the Chairman shall first 

announce the total number of voting rights represented by the attending 

shareholders. 

Paragraph 6  Where the chair of the Meeting receives no objections from any shareholders in 

attendance upon inquiry, the proposal shall be deemed passed, with the same 

binding force as a resolution by vote. In the event of objections, the proposal shall 

be subject to voting as provided in the preceding paragraph. 

Paragraph 7  When there is an amendment or an alternative to a proposal, the Chairman shall 

present the amended or alternative proposal together with the original proposal and 

decide the order in which they will be put to a vote. When any one among them is 

passed, the other proposals will then be deemed rejected, and no further voting shall 

be required. 

Paragraph 8  Vote monitoring and counting personnel for the voting on a proposal shall be 

appointed by the Chairman, provided that all monitoring personnel shall be 

shareholders of the Company. 

Paragraph 9  Vote counting should be carried out openly at the shareholders’ meeting venue. The 
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results should be reported onsite and recorded.  

Article 14  Election matters 

Paragraph 1  If there is an election of directors at the shareholders’ meeting, the Company’s 

election related rules shall apply. The election results should be announced onsite, 

including the list of elected directors and the number of votes for winning in the 

election and the list of candidates not elected and the number of votes attracted 

despite not winning in the election.  

Paragraph 2  The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be sealed 

and affixed with the signatures of the monitoring personnel and kept in proper 

custody for at least one year. If, however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant to 

Article 189 of the Company Act, the recording shall be retained until the conclusion 

of the litigation.  

Article 15  Matters relating to the resolutions of Shareholders' Meeting  

Paragraph 1  Matters pertaining to the resolutions of a shareholders’ meeting shall be recorded in 

the Meeting minutes. The chair shall affix his/her signature or seal to the meeting 

minutes and a copy thereof shall be distributed to each shareholder within 20 days 

after the conclusion of the Meeting. The meeting minutes may be produced and 

distributed in electronic form. 

Paragraph 2  The Company may distribute the Meeting minutes referred to in the preceding 

paragraph by means of a public announcement. 

Paragraph 3 The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, day, and venue of the 

meeting, the chair's full name, the methods by which resolutions were adopted, and 

a summary of the deliberations and the voting results (including statistical tallies ). 

Where directors are elected, the meeting minutes shall disclose the number of votes 

for each candidate. It shall be retained for the duration of the existence of the 

Company. 

Paragraph 4  If the resolutions as specified in the preceding paragraph were adopted through 

inquiry of attending shareholders who raised no objections to the proposal, it shall 

be recorded in the minutes that the proposal was "adopted unanimously after the 

chair asked all shareholders in attendance." However, in the event of objection, the 

method and the number or proportion of the votes in favor shall be recorded in the 

minutes of the Meeting.  

Article 16  Public Disclosure 

Paragraph 1  The Company should produce the table of statistics in the required format to 

indicate the number of shares for which proxies have been acquired by solicitors 

and the number of shares represented by authorized representatives. These statistics 
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should be clearly shown at the venue on the shareholders’ meeting day.  

Paragraph 2  If matters put to a resolution at a shareholders’ meeting constitute material 

information under applicable laws or regulations or under Taiwan Stock Exchange 

Corporation (Taipei Exchange), the content of such resolutions shall be uploaded to 

the Market Observation Post System within the prescribed time limit.  

Article 17  Maintaining Order at the Meeting Place 

Paragraph 1  Staff handling affairs of the Meeting shall wear identification cards or badges. 

Paragraph 2  The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help maintain order at the 

meeting place. Such disciplinary officers or security guards shall wear badges or 

identification cards marked "Disciplinary Officers" for identification purpose.  

Paragraph 3  At the place of a shareholders meeting, if a shareholder attempts to speak through 

any device other than the public address equipment set up by this Corporation, the 

chair may prevent the shareholder from so doing. 

Paragraph 4  When a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and defies the chair's 

instructions, obstructing the proceedings and refusing to heed calls to stop, the chair 

may direct the proctors or security personnel to escort the shareholder from the 

meeting.  

Article 18  Recess and Resumption of a Shareholders’ Meeting 

Paragraph 1  During the Meeting, the chair may, at his/her discretion, set a time for recess. In 

case of a force majeure event, the chair may decide to temporarily suspend the 

Meeting and announce, depending on the situation, when the Meeting will resume. 

Paragraph 2  If the Meeting venue is no longer available for continued use and not all of the items 

(including extraordinary motions) on the Meeting agenda have been addressed, the 

Shareholders' Meeting may adopt a resolution to resume the Meeting at another 

venue. 

Paragraph 3  A resolution may be adopted at a Shareholders' Meeting to defer or resume the 

Meeting within 5 days in accordance with Article 182 of the Company Act.  

Article 19  These Rules and all amendments hereto shall be effective from the date of approval by 

the Shareholders' Meeting. 
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Appendix III                

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Procedures for Election of Directors 

Article 1 To ensure a just, fair, and open election of directors, these Procedures are adopted pursuant 

to Articles 21 and 41 of the Corporate Governance Best-Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies. 

Article 2 Except as otherwise provided by law and regulation or by this Company’s Articles of 

Association, elections of directors shall be conducted in accordance with these Procedures. 

Article 3 The overall composition of the board of directors shall be taken into consideration in the 

selection of the Company’s directors. The composition of the board of directors shall be 

determined by taking diversity into consideration and formulating an appropriate policy on 

diversity based on the company's business operations, operating dynamics, and development 

needs. It is advisable that the policy include, without being limited to, the following two 

general standards: 

I. Basic requirements and values: Gender, age, nationality, and culture. 

II. Professional knowledge and skills:  professional background (e.g., law, accounting, 

industry, finance, marketing, technology), professional skills, and industry experience. 

Each board member shall have the necessary knowledge, skill, and experience to perform 

their duties; the abilities that must be present in the board as a whole are as follows: 

I. The ability to make judgments about operations. 

II. Accounting and financial analysis ability. 

III. Business management ability. 

IV. Crisis management ability. 

V. Knowledge of the industry. 

VI. An international market perspective. 

VII. Leadership ability. 

VIII. Decision-making ability. 

More than half of the directors shall be persons who have neither a spousal relationship nor 

a relationship within the second degree of kinship with any other director. 

The board of directors of the Company shall consider adjusting its composition based on 

the results of performance evaluation. 

Article 4 The qualifications for the independent directors of the Company shall comply with Articles 

2, 3, and 4 of the Procedure Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and 

Compliance Matters for Public Companies. 

       The election of independent directors of the Company shall comply with Articles 5, 6, 7, 8, 

and 9 of the Regulations Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and Compliance 

Matters for Public Companies, and shall be conducted in accordance with Article 24 of the 

Corporate Governance Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies.  
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Article 5 Elections of directors at the Company shall be conducted in accordance with the nominee 

nomination system and procedures set in Article 192-1 of the Company Act. The Company 

shall review the qualifications, education, working experience, background, and the 

existence of any other matters set forth in Article 30 of the Company Act with respect to 

nominee directors and may not arbitrarily add requirements for documentation of other 

qualifications. It shall further provide the results of the review to shareholders for their 

reference, so that qualified directors will be elected. 

Article 6 The cumulative voting method shall be used for election of the directors at the Company. 

Each share will have voting rights in number equal to the directors to be elected, and may be 

cast for a single candidate or split among multiple candidates. 

Article 7 The board of directors shall prepare separate ballots for directors in numbers corresponding 

to the directors to be elected. The number of voting rights associated with each ballot shall 

be specified on the ballots, which shall then be distributed to the attending shareholders at 

the shareholders meeting. Attendance card numbers printed on the ballots may be used 

instead of recording the names of voting shareholders. 

Article 8 The number of directors will be as specified in the Company's Articles of Association, with 

voting rights separately calculated for independent and non-independent director positions. 

Those receiving ballots representing the highest numbers of voting rights will be elected 

sequentially according to their respective numbers of votes. When two or more persons 

receive the same number of votes, thus exceeding the specified number of positions, they 

shall draw lots to determine the winner, with the chair drawing lots on behalf of any person 

not in attendance. 

Article 9 Before the election begins, the chair shall appoint a number of persons with shareholder 

status to perform the respective duties of vote monitoring and counting personnel.  The 

ballot boxes shall be prepared by the board of directors and publicly checked by the vote 

monitoring personnel before voting commences. 

Article 10 If a candidate is a shareholder, a voter must enter the candidate's account name and 

shareholder account number in the "candidate" column of the ballot; for a non-shareholder, 

the voter shall enter the candidate's full name and identity card number.  However, when 

the candidate is a government organization or juristic-person shareholder, the name of the 

governmental organization or juristic-person shareholder shall be entered in the column 

for the candidate's account name in the ballot paper, or both the name of the governmental 

organization or juristic-person shareholder and the name of its representative may be 

entered. When there are multiple representatives, the names of each respective 

representative shall be entered. 

Article 11 A ballot is invalid under any of the following circumstances: 

  Paragraph1. The ballot was not prepared by a party with the power to convene. 

  Paragraph2. A blank ballot is placed in the ballot box. 

  Paragraph3. The writing is unclear and indecipherable or has been altered 

  Paragraph4. A cross-check shows that the entered name of the candidate does not match the name 
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given on the director candidate list. 

  Paragraph 5. Other words or marks are entered in addition to the allotted voting rights. 

Article 12 The voting rights shall be calculated on site immediately after the end of the polls and the 

results of the calculation, including the list of persons elected as directors and the number 

of votes with which they were elected, shall be announced by the chair on the site. 

The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be sealed with the 

signatures of the monitoring personnel and kept in proper custody for at least one year. If, 

however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the 

recording shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation. 

Article 13 The board of directors of this Corporation shall issue notifications to the persons elected 

as directors. 

Article 14 These Procedures, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented after approval by a 

shareholders meeting. 
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Appendix IV 

Sunjuice Holdings Co., Ltd. 

Shareholdings of All Directors 

Percentage and number of legally required shareholdings owned by the Company’s directors:  

The Company has issued 33,842,160 shares      

The legal requirement of shareholding percentage o be owned by directors of the Company is 10% 

*80%.   

The legal requirement of shares to be owned by directors of the Company is 3,600,000 shares.   

    

Title Name  

Current shareholdings (Note 1) 

Number of shares held 

(shares) 
Ratio in Issued shares  

Chairman 
HUANG,KUO-

HUANG 
9,093,849 26.87% 

Director  LIN,LI-LING  6,178,264 18.25% 

Director  
WANG,MING-

CHIH 
1,450,897 4.29% 

Director  WU,MING-HSIEN 1,232,406 3.64% 

Director  HUANG,HSUN-YI 319,879 0.95% 

Independent 

Director  
LO,SHIH-WEI 0 0% 

Independent 

Director  
LIN, FENG-I  0 0% 

Independent 

Director  
CHEN,PO-TSANG 0 0% 

Number of shares actually held by 

the entire Directors 
18,275,295 54.00% 

Note 1:  No. of shares held by individual shareholders and all directors as of March 28, 

2023, the book closure day for 2023 Annual General Meeting  

Note 2:  The number of shareholders owned by all directors as of the book closure day 

for this annual general meeting conforms to the percentage requirements set forth 

in the Rules and Review Procedures for Director and Supervisor Share 

Ownership Ratios at Public Companies.  

 


